Performance Testing

User's Guide

©2005, Andromeda Computer Systems Ltd. and John Heerema. All rights reserved.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
Software Features	1
Getting Started	2
Connecting to the system	
Starting the software	2
You may not need this Guide	
Setting Up	5
Preferences	
File Preferences	6
Unit Preferences	7
Station Setup	9
Get All Configuration Files	
About Tags	
Tag Names	
Signal / Tag Order	
Hardware Setup	14
Frequency and time	14
Thermocouples	16
RTDs	
Current Loops	19
Isolated Inputs	
Derived Points	21
Manual Inputs	21
Shared signals	
Averaged signals	
Sum and Differences	
Flow Measurements	24
Orifice Plates	25
Suction / Eye and Elbow Meters	25
Vortex and Turbine flow meters	
P.D. meters	
Venturi Meters	
Define Calculations	28
Compression Calculations	
ASCV Capacity	

Data Management	32
A new Session	
Resuming a previous session	
Import from Snapshot	
Finishing Steps	
Monitor All Analogs	
Gas Generator Schematic	38
Strip Charts	40
Using Strip Charts	4
Operating Point	
Create Wheel Map	
Data Sources	4
Cheesman Coefficients	
Wegmann Coefficients	5.
Wheel Map Range	54
Labeling the Lines	
Colours and line styles	50
Wheel Information	
General X-Y Graph	
X-Y Data Points	
X-Y Graph at Multi-Base Conditions	
ASCV Capacity Graph	
Importing Data Points	
Recalculate Snapshot Buffer	70
Appendix 1 — Controls & Indicators	72
Graphs	

Software Features...

The Performance Testing system is designed to help you test the performance of a natural gas compressor.

You can acquire and process measurement signals in real time, or analyze your existing measurements.

Flow measurements can be made using a variety of flow measurement devices, using the American Gas Association (AGA) calculation methods.

You can create Wheel Maps based on adiabatic, isentropic, or polytropic head, and efficiency, and display lines of constant gas power, as well as surge limit and surge control lines. Gas compression properties are calculated using the AGA-10 equation of state.

You can also calculate the capacity of recycle or anti-surge control valves (and their associated piping).

After a test, you can recalculate the results based on new gas analysis results, or new transducer calibrations, and save the results as a spreadsheet file for further analysis.

A variety of views of your real-time measurements are available:

- "schematic diagram" of the individual units.

- strip charts
- Wheel Maps
- X-Y graphs
- etc.

The software also includes an extensive on-line help system.

Getting Started

Connecting to the	The Performance Testing software is pre-installed on your data acquisition unit. You can connect to it in two ways:
system	1. By hooking up a monitor, keyboard, and mouse to the appropriate connectors
	2. By connecting an ethernet (T-base 100) cable to the network connector on the front panel connector (RG45).
	In most cases, it is more convenient to connect as a remote Windows session. You may wish to connect directly, if you are unable to connect remotely.
	Using a Remote Windows Session (Windows XP) or Windows Terminal Services client (Windows 2000), connect to the system. The computer name is <i>GasPerf</i> .
	For your initial login, use:
	User name: administrator Password: Andromeda
	You can create additional User names to suit your own needs. By default, the GasPerf system has been assigned a static IP address within Andromeda's assigned IP range, usually 198.161.125.100. You can change this to an IP address in the same subnet as your laptop computer.
	To start the system, double-click the "Performance" icon on the desktop.
Starting the software	To start the Performance Testing software, double-click the icon for GasPerf.exe (or any shortcut to the file). After a few seconds, the main menu panel appears:

Performance Testing - Edit Hab	Main Menu	
es Selup		
Protectors a		
2 Station Setup Get All Config	P AV6245 stn	Monitor PxL Ass Emerator
3 Data Points PXG Setup Import Pts	lietup file name	Test Couration
4 Calculated Points		Create Wheel Man
Config Report	nt	X-Y Graph X-Y a Philb ASCV Coperty Help
a lest prop.		Least Least Marter Least

While the cursor is in the main part of a window, it is in the shape of a pointing hand. You can select a function by clicking the appropriate button.

When you select a function, its panel appears. This panel will have a "Done" button on it somewhere. When you're done with the panel, click its Done button to return to this menu.

It's not quite true that you can throw this manual away, but the software does have an extensive on-line help system. Here's how to use it:

Most panels contain a "Help..." button. Clicking it displays general information about using that panel (you can usually press the F1 function key instead of clicking the Help button). The help panel may contain buttons to display related information.

There may also be a pop-up menu in the upper left hand corner of the screen, which lets you select from a variety of help topics.

1	Wheel Map Help Topic
	✓ Introduction Coefficients Illheel Man Range
	Labeling the Lines
Wheel Map Help Topic	Colours and Line Styles
Introduction 🔫	Wheel Information

Every panel also has a "Done" button — click it to return to the previous panel.

You may not need this Guide...

Full-Screen Help

Floating help window	You can more the Help window around the screen, and resize it. When the cursor is over a screen object, the help window displays information about that object. Select "Hide Help Window" from the Help menu to remove the help window.
Tip strips	If you let the cursor hover over a field, a tip strip give you a short summary of what the field is for.

Setting Up

Let's jump right in by configuring the PXI chassis for a test. We'll go through the setup steps in the main menu in order:

Edit Halp e Setup	
Protorouxos.	
Ka	Ration file name
2 Station Setup P Get All Config	AV462AB stri
Data Points	Setup Ne name
3 PX Setup Import Pts.	0
Calculated Points	
4 Derived Pts.) <u>.</u>
Faculations	8
Config Report	
Data Management	
s test prop. 11	

Note that the steps are numbered, and that several of the buttons have a checkbox and a file name just to the right of their button.

Although you don't have to go through the setup steps in order, each steps builds on the previous step.

When you go through a setup step, a checkmark appears beside it, and the appropriate file name is shown.

Preferences

File Preferences

If this is the first time you've used the system, you should tell GasPerf where you'd like to store your data files. Do this by clicking the **Preferences** button on the main menu, or selecting "GasPerf Preferences" from the menu bar¹. The Preferences vi appears (the values shown are the default values you get if you click "Default"):

Configuration Files	Set UoM
BC:\GasPerf\DATA	Prefs
Calibration Files	
임C:\GasPerf\Calibration	
Snapshot Files	
ፄ C:\GasPerf\Test	
Wheel Map Files	
╏C:\GasPerf\Wheel	
X-Y Files	
₿C:\GasPerf\XY	
Recal: Files	
╏C:\GasPerf\Recalc	
Set out-of-range points to NaN?	
256 Snapshot Buffer Size	Get Hein
1024 Slow Scan Buffer Size Hardy	Nare Revert Defaul
4096 East Scan Buffer Size	

The Performance Testing system uses several types of data files. For each of these files, enter the *path* to the folder on your hard disk where you'd like them saved. When you retrieve or save a file, the file dialog will start at this location, but you can always specify a file located somewhere else.

- There are a couple of shortcuts you can use instead of typing in the full paths:
- Drag and drop a folder from the Windows Explorer.
- Clicking the "folder icon" at the right of each line
- Copy and paste by:
 - selecting some text in one of the boxes
 - right-click the mouse, and select "Copy"

¹ Only available in some screens.

- position the insertion point in the destination box, right-click the mouse, and select "Paste".

Click "Save" to save your file preferences in a file called *Prefs.dat*, located in the same folder as the Performance Testing application. You cannot change the name or location of the file (if you could, how would the software find it?).

"Revert" restores the paths that were in *Prefs.dat* the last time you saved them.

"Done" allows you to use these path names for the remainder of this session, but does not save them permanently.

Please note that when you define a Station Setup, the location of the configuration files is changed to the directory where the station information was stored or found.

To change the unit preferences, click this button:

Set UoM	i
Prefs	

Unit Preferences

The Performance Testing software always stores both measured and calculated information in SI units, but you can usually information in your choice of SI units or U.S. Customary units of measure.

The Unit Preference vi lets you specify the units of measure you prefer to see:

Units of Measure	~		
Temperature	deg C		
Frequency	Hz		
Pressure	kPa		
Size 算	mm		
Volume 🛊	m ³		
Velocity 🌻	m / sec		
Actual Flow 👙	m³/sec		
Std Flow 🌻	10° m³ / hr		
Energy 🖡	1		
Adiabatic Head 🖡	kJ/kg		
Enthalpy	kJ / kg		
Entropy	kJ / kg deg K		
Power	kW		
Heat Rate 🖡	MJ / kW-hr		
SFC	SCM / kW-hr	Get	Help
Density 🖡	kg / ACM	Revert	Landstream
Heat Content	MJ / SCM	Save	Done

You can specify each of type of units from its pop-up menu, using any combination of SI and U.S. units.

The buttons work like their counterparts in the File Preferences:

"Save" stores your unit preferences in a file called *Units.dat*, located in the same folder as the Performance Testing application. You cannot change the name or location of the file.

"Revert" restores the paths that were in *Units.dat* the last time you saved them.

"Done" allows you to use these unit preferences for the remainder of this session, but does not save them permanently.

Station Setup

The information which relates to an entire station, or to an individual compressor unit is defined by "Station Setup":

Station Julio					
Phill: Station	(Nata)		Lastather, TD	76 OF	
ZA Ditolog	mpresson station 24		Elko (ges)	8 15400 \$ 101 az	
unit info					
Loc 10 Unit Descript	-	These Stroom		a manada sugar 1	- Ransow
E ELMISON		Covern 20.0000	0 Hopene 31.0000	0=1,0,0,2381	the Unit
When Handisture	Wreel Number N	ul d'stages temper \$1.0072	PHOCH MIR. 201.0000	20 0.9975	E Sector Mar
L6.	199402	CO2 (1.0112	1-Fårnere 21.0000	Picie Pradam (1.0000	Calculate
93 Manufacturer	GGMedel Number GG Seral N	unter Methanic 20.9609	n Germe 31.0000	Not 8 5541	
GeneralDectric	DM3008	Ithose 11.0200	425 20.0000	Low Rode Volum 24, 1042	
PT Havafacturer	PT Wodel famber PT Set # M	unter Propose #0.0011	Woter 20.0000	Specta Grant / U.S.785	
Dal	ELALIDES 1	Instant Incold		96.00 Hach tiff to	
Duceter Pierurischurer	Doctor Flodel Ms. Doctor Se	Lengture 10,010	Hurborner - D. DOCO	10.52 thete-1	
(ACUTION)	and the second second second second	nPartane 11.0000	11111111	U.S. Instant	
1007 1000		7053	Mole Fraction 1.1990	102.000 K1	
COMP CALINGS	In the second	Hard Street	1.46.26.20.00.P		
Contraction of the local division of the loc	- ANG - V		Attack and a state	A (WEITIES)	
Shee Necheture	Multitle 1	CONTRACTOR OF STREET,	HOUSE THE		
Contraction of the	11 18	OOL TRWITE	HANNING TILLULP	Phile Name of Distances	
Concentration of the local division of the l			PERSONAL PROPERTY.	1000 210210	
Philipping and the second	of the lot	and the second se		Longiture Parks Scotter	Get
1	1	Nav State	ar 2: 441	STATISTICS.	Revent
		ALL DAMAS TO A DECIMAL OF THE OWNER	Automation	UNTU MADER M.	Save
Empiriphene Planific Room	Bissing Physics Bissenal Co.				
- mattasilation	Bisere resistor Biserel Sa	History 21 William	Hanger 21.00.0		e de de la

The base pressure and temperature are used to define such items as "standard flow", and must be entered in kPa and degrees C.

The lower portion of the screen lets you define individual compressor units. You give each unit a unique *Unit ID*, which will be used as part of the tag name associated with each signal. Although the Unit ID can be any length, we suggest you limit them to one or two characters if possible, so that the tag names don't get excessively long. You can define any number of units.

The gas composition is entered in mole fractions or mole percentages. Be sure to click the *Calculate* button after you change the base conditions or gas composition, to update the calculated gas constants on the right-hand side of the screen.

Some other information you need to supply is:

Mech eff %	The mechanical efficiency of this compressor unit. Typical values are 95% for liquid-film (oil) bearings, and 97.5% for magnetic bearings.
theta^j	The temperature correction factor (theta) is raised to this power for speed corrections (ie: typically the correction divides the uncorrected values by theta^0.5).

theta^x The temperature correction factor θ (theta) is raised to this power for shaft power corrections:

$$PWRs.isen.c = \frac{PWRs.isen}{\left(\boldsymbol{d} \cdot \boldsymbol{q}^{x}\right)}$$

where

$$oldsymbol{d} = rac{Pa}{Pb}$$
, and $oldsymbol{q} = rac{Ta\langle Kelvins
angle}{Tb\langle Kelvins
angle}$

Fp The piping geometry factor:

$$\frac{\textit{LineSize}_{\textit{inlet}}}{\textit{ValveSize}_{\textit{inlet}}}$$

and then interpreted from a table

C1 ASCV coefficient "C1", as supplied by the manufacturer (defined as the ratio Cg/Cv).

ImportantIf you remove a unit .by clicking "Remove This Unit", signals which
refer to the missing unit will be assigned to the next unit — so be sure
to check the rest of your configuration to make sure the units are still
correct!

Remember that if you forget what a field is used for you can display the floating help window (Ctrl+h).

Get All Configuration Files

If you've already defined a complete set of configuration files, you can retrieve them together at this point by clicking *Get All Config* in the main menu:

Set Config File Set.vi	× <mark>□ _</mark>
Root file name	H/W setup file name ANG2AB.pxi
	Derived points file name
	Calculation setup file name
	Done

This vi will initially attempt to load all of the configuration files which start with the station name (as shown above).

If you want to retrieve all the files which start with a different name, change the root file name and click "Get". If all of the files have different names you're best off to visit the individual configuration screens shown in the next few sections of this Guide.

About Tags

Tag Names	 Every measurement or calculated value in the Performance Testing system is given a <i>Tag Name</i>.
0	Tag name are short identifiers (typically three to six characters) used to identify a particular measurement.
	Each tag name is associated with either a particular unit, or the overall station. For example, if we are working on unit M5, the tag "M5:Ps" might refer to the suction pressure measurement for unit M5.
	Once again, every tag name used in the Performance Testing system is qualified by either a unit name or "Stn" (for station-level measurements).
	If it's possible to just use unqualified tag names, there will be a pop-up menu nearby, from which the unit name can be selected.
	You are free to use anything you want as a tag name, provided you do not use the colon or space characters. If you type in a qualified tag name, separate the unit name and the tag name with a colon, but no spaces.
	If you use particularly long tag names, they may not fit into the tag name fields on the screen (in some cases they will appear blank). This does not affect the operation of the system, but can be an inconvenience.
Signal / Tag Order	You can often select tags from pop-up menus. These always appear in the same order in which measurements are acquired and calculated. The recalc file is also in the same order.
	The order is as follows:
	 Frequency / time signals, ordered by connector number.
	 Thermocouples, in connector order.
	 RTDs, in connector order.
	 Analog signals in connector order (self-powered loops at the end).
	 Manual inputs, in the order you defined them.
	 Shared signals, in the order you defined them.
	 Averaged signals, in the order they were defined.
	 Flow devices, in the order they were defined, within the order of the meter type tab in the "Define Flow Devices" vi. Two additional tags, <i>tag.fpv</i> and <i>tag.z</i> are automatically added after each flow tag.
	 Sum/Difference signals.
	 Equation of State calculations, in the order in which they appear in the "Define Calculations" vi.

• ASCV capacity calculations.

Hardware Setup

You can acquire four types of signals from the data acquisition system:

- Frequency or time measurements
- Thermocouple temperatures
- 4-wire platinum RTD temperatures
- Other current loop analog measurements (passive or self-powered)

You select which of these you wish to configure by selecting the appropriate tab.

All four types of PXI setup information are saved in the same file. By default, the system will propose *Station name.PXI* as the name for this file, but you can use any file name you wish. By default, only files with the extension .PXI are visible in the open and save dialog boxes.

Frequency and time	Define PXI Setup Ele Est Operate Too	a Buones (Flumma (Feb) Al		
	Contes Derreuse	s Affis Correspond toget Balassifiques		
	Famel	UVE D Tog Measurement Decorpoon A	Holder Carlos Politikatiz Hollow Han raw Oravist 2 cards 2 Com (w) 555 100 Constant 1 Com (w) 555 Constant 2 cards 2 com (w) 155 100 Res (card)	
	Figure 1	Int D Tay Hearment Description 2 Sm Sense D Sense D Sense D Tayon Sense D Sense D Sense D Topper History Rescription Finance Topper History Door Sense D	Module Name Units MittlSortp Mittlsorte Mittlsorte Orientet 10,001 100,000 Mittlsorte Intt2 talantitivada Mittlsorte Mittlsorte Intt2 talantitivada Mittlsorte Mittlsorte Intt2 talantitivada Mittlsorte Mittlsorte	
	R San	Inf D Tag Medianeser/Decording A 10 Peri Stope open the Tetror D Series Leader Troope Of Falge Troope Minage Mexape Classes Troope Minage Series 2000 \$ Toope Series 2000	Hodde Revited: Institute Heriser Han rev Charter States States Jate States States Institute States Heriser States Herise	
	Es China	In Traj Mediament Decalition Shi Shi Sener UCSION Termer III Sener UCSION Toger Hisron Nucley F Saulte Hearthing Sub- 2 0.00 2 0.00 2007 200	Michae Devictors Processor Michae Michae District Michae Michae State Scoled Michae Michae State Scoled Michae Michae Michae Michae Michae Ima Scoled Michae Michae	
				Ged Rovert Same
1				February Henry Jose

Frequency measurements are made using a National Instrument 6602 counter/timer card. You can test for the presence of signals using the Measurement and Automation Explorer, if you wish.

Unlike some other frequency measurement hardware, it's important to understand that the PXI 6602 card can *only* measure TTL signals. This means that you may require external signal conditioning, such as a Schmidt trigger, in addition to any isolation.

Frequency measurements are more complex than the other analog signal measurements, so let's look at the configuration in more detail:

13	UNE ID	Tag	Mensurement Des	cription			Module	RevUnits
100	A 1	N3	Third stage expan	der			PXDSpt2	Min cause Minis rave
M BCANP	Sensor I	ID .	Sensor Location				Channel	100.00 1000.00 Hz Sec
and the second		10	Inteard of flabge				(114	Scaled Units
> Constrate	Trigger		Min exp.	Max exp.	# Samples	Meastline		Min Max Units
	Rising ed	99	11.00	1000.00	18	#F00.	ma .	1000.00 1000.00 Hz

This example is a configuration for the "F3" connector on the front panel. The Module and Channel correspond with the PXI module name and the PXI-6602 counter channel in MAX (the National Instruments Measurement and Automation Explorer).

Connector Name	The <i>cluster</i> displayed for each frequency connector shows the connector name, and the module and channel numbers. You can't change them (if you try, they will be restored to their correct values the next time you display this window).
Scan?	Check this box if you want this signal to be acquired. The tag name also needs to be non-blank for a signal to be part of the scan.
Corrected?	Check this box if you are measuring a speed, and you wish to correct the speed for ambient conditions. The corrected speed will appear as a new tag with the same name as this tag followed by a suffix of ".c".
Unit ID	This pop-up menu lets you associate the measurement with the entire station (Stn), or with a specific compressor unit.
Tag	Each measured or calculated value in the system has a "Tag" — a short identifier used to refer to the signal.
	Tags can be qualified, or can refer to the current unit. A qualified tag has the form:
	UnitID:Tag
	For more information about tags, please refer to the "About Tags" section of this Guide.
Description	You can enter a text description about the measurement you are making in this field. The description can be any length, although only the part of it can be shown in this box.
Sensor ID	Each sensor can have an identification tag, which you can make a note of here. This is just a comment field — the system does not use this field to, for example, diagnose faulty sensors.
Location	You can make notes about the measurement location here.
Trigger	You need to specify either rising edge or falling edge.

Min exp.	You need to enter the minimum expected frequency or time period here (the acquisition won't work if you don't). Frequencies or time periods outside this range can't be measured.
Max exp.	You also need to enter the maximum expected frequency or time period here (the acquisition won't work if you don't). Frequencies or time periods outside this range can't be measured.
# Samples	You need to tell the hardware how many signal edges to measure and average.
Meas time	You need to tell the system how much time to allow for the measurement to complete. If you set it too low, you will get measurement errors. If you set it too high, it may take a while for the system to report that a signal can't be measured. In case of doubt, we'd suggest erring on the high side.
Raw Units	The frequency or time period that you measure can be scaled. The measurement is a "raw" value in Hz or seconds. Enter any convenient range of raw units
Scaled Units	The "scaled" value can be in units:

If you don't wish to scale the measurement you made, set the Raw and Scaled range to be the same.

Secs

If the measurement falls outside of the range you set here, it is set to "NaN" (Not a Number), and a range error is signaled.

Thermocouples

Theremenythe RTDs Galantitinger Englished System	
K1 Unit 1/ Tag Tage Measurement Decomptory If A Ext S Dot extract trace start If Server Server (0.0000) Server (0.0000) If Connected Is S Dot extract trace start Server (0.0000)	Pin, Holde Didegt SciPast Pine Charrel 2000 jacgt with
K2 Unit to Tag Type Hearsweet Domatory X Ext Sx Def unitwat temperature X tool Server U Server Uccdov X tool Server Uccdov Server Uccdov	Min. Mi0.0e 算Ⅱ jmag SC/ModE Max. Chonel Status \$500jmag attr
K3 UnitD Tot Type Networker Details F tase! A Ext Set Det offsate Details F tase! Setse ID Setser ID Setser ID Setser ID Details of the set F Concled? Setse ID Setser ID Setser ID Setser ID Setser ID	Min. Panka \$0 lasgr. 301Hot: New Outriel \$500, long; wild

Since quite a few thermocouples can be used, you can use the vertical slider to move quickly between them.

Let's look at the configuration in more detail:

K 4	Unit 10 Teg	Type Measurement Description	Min Module
Laboratory 1	A Ext	K Exhaust temperature	degt SCIMad2
Scan?	Sensor JD	Sensor Location	Mass Channel
Conjected?	16.30	Figure bolt 2	SISOD degC alts

The thermocouple configuration is a bit simpler than the frequency / time configuration. There is no section for scaling to SI values, because the temperatures are always converted to degrees C.

The new fields are:

Туре	You can select from any of the thermocouple types which are supported by the PXI hardware. In practice though, the internal acquisition chassis wiring is of type K, so that's the only kind of thermocouple you can read without additional cold junction temperature compensation.
Min	The minimum allowable temperature, in the temperature units you specify to the right o the field. Note that you can right click on the units of measure field for help in specifying other units of measure.
Max	The maximum allowable temperature, in whatever temperature units you specify to the right o the field.
Module/Channel	The SCXI chassis number (always 1) and module number (2 for the thermocouples and RTDs).
Special Note	Thermocouples K17 and K18 are "extra", in the sense that they have been wired into the PXI module which does NOT have cold-junction compensation. This means that K17 and K18 are only useful for approximate temperature measurements (within a degree or two). For accurate temperature reading, you must use connectors K1K16.

RTDs

Ele Gat g	×I Setup v parate ∏ooli ●III	Brows (Rucon Rep		
(Some)	Tarrestate	IIIIIa Colorest Logical Laborator		
9	R1 97 Score	Det 20 Tag Type Measurement Description \$570 Te \$FC0() Selected torque open Percey 30 Select Location PED-3256	Min 15 deg(A 05+0 SC1Mod1 Max St1 Mag(B St2+0 SC1Mod1 Max St1 Mag(B St2+0 SC1Mod1 Max St1 Mag(B St2+0 SC1Mod1 Max St2 St2+0 St2 St2+0 St2	
	<mark>1k2</mark> ₩ Scal? ₩ Connectant/	Unit 20 Tag Type Resultement Description A UP3 AUP3 AUP3 Exciton force duar Sender 20 Second Location Sertior 10 Exciton and 20	Min D deg(A DE+U SCIMADI Max 300 Mag(B DE+U Observal Mo 300 Mag(B DE+U Observal Mo 300 C SE+U Observal Mag(
	R3 Fiscal Formatael	Unit 20 Tag Type Measurement Description A Tot Physics Construction Ensure 20 Server Location DTD-141 Dodds well #2	Mn 50 oxyc A 50+0 SCIMAD Max 5100 oxyc B 50+0 Oxareal 10 3100 < 510+0 442	

The RTD configuration is very similar to the thermocouple configuration. Some new or changed items are:

	Туре	A number table). You coefficient	of 4-wire RTD typ 1 can also specify th s for this particular	es are supported (se e unique Callendar sensor.	e the following Van Dusen		
	Min	The minimum allowable temperature, in the temperature unit specify to the right o the field. Note that you can right click on units of measure field for help in specifying other units of meas					
	Max	The maximum allowable temperature, in whatever temperature up you specify to the right o the field.					
	r0	The nomir Typically 1	nal impedance of th .00 ohms.	e RTD at zero degr	ees Celcius.		
	A, B, C	Callendar- unless you	Van Dusen coeffici have specified "Cu	ients for this RTD. stom" as the RTD 7	Leave these blank Type.		
Platinum RTD Types	The following table lists th are some shared standards. important than the standa	ne supporte . The TCR .rds ² .	ed platinum RTD t and the Callendar	ypes and standards. -Van Dusen coeffic	Notice that there ients are more		
	Standards	TCR	Typical R ₀ (O)	Coefficients	Notes		
	IEC-751 DIN 43760 BS 1904 ASTM-E1137 EN-60751	3851	100 O 1000 O	$A = 3.9083 \times 10^{-3}$ $B = -5.775 \times 10^{-7}$ $C = -4.183 \times 10^{-12}$	Most common RTDs		
	Low-cost vendor compliant RTD*	3750	1000 O	$\begin{split} A &= 3.81 \times 10^{-3} \\ B &= -6.02 \times 10^{-7} \\ C &= -6.0 \times 10^{-12} \end{split}$	Low-cost RTD		
	JISC 1604	3916	100 O	$\begin{split} A &= 3.9739 \times 10^{-3} \\ B &= -5.870 \times 10^{-7} \\ C &= -4.4 \times 10^{-12} \end{split}$	Used in primarily in Japan		
	US Industrial Standard D-1 American	00 3920	100 O	$\begin{split} A &= 3.9787 \times 10^{-3} \\ B &= -5.8686 \times 10^{-7} \\ C &= -4.167 \times 10^{-12} \end{split}$	Low-cost RTD		
	US Industrial Standard American	3911	100 O	$\begin{split} A &= 3.9692 \times 10^{-3} \\ B &= -5.8495 \times 10^{-7} \\ C &= -4.233 \times 10^{-12} \end{split}$	Low-cost RTD		
	ITS-90	3928	100 O	$A = 3.9888 \times 10^{-3}$ $B = -5.915 \times 10^{-7}$ $C = -3.85 \times 10^{-12}$	The definition of temperature		

 2 This table is taken from the National Instruments LabVIEW documentation.

Current Loops

All Unit ID Test Identification Plot ide Nov Plot ide Nov P Same 3111 Pa Reducting pressure 0000000 000 000000 000 000 P Same 3111 Pa Reducting pressure 0000000 000 000 000 000 000 P Same 3111 Pa Reducting pressure 0000000 000 000 000 000 P Same 3111 Pa Reducting pressure Plot ide 0000 100000 000 000 P Same A Pa Subtriminit Description Plot ide 000 10000 1000 1000 P Same Subtriminit Description Description 0000 000 000 000 000 P Same Description Description 0000 Description 0000 000 000 P Same Description Description Description 0000 000 000 000 P Same Description Description Description 0000 000 000 000 P Same Description Description Pa 0000 Description 000	Iteraco	scies 1170s Convert Loops Looking Routs	
Unit ID Top Measurement Description Mode	1		March Harris
P Save? Server ID Server	- Carl	Unit ID Tog Petsurement Description	X 1944 (Mes # 4.00 # 30.00 #4
I. Canada Bill Price I Endom notified man all Unit I 100.00 Min A1 Unit ID Tag. Present instantion Poble Inst. Min Min V Sami I A In Social main Social main Social main Social main V Sami Server ID Server Instantion Chained Eng. Min Min V Sami Server ID Server Instantion Chained Eng. Min Min V Sami Server ID Server Instantion Chained Eng. Min Min V Sami Server ID Server Instantion Chained Eng. Min Min A2 Unit ID Tag. Min Min Min Min A1 Tag. Min Min Min Min	2 300	Server ID Server Locather	Cleaned ing Man Max Lines
A1 Unit ID Tag: Presentant Description Poble Res. Prime A Name A VF Sum1 A Ps Subtro Pressure Subtro Pressure Subtro Pressure Subtro Pressure Subtro Pressure Subtro Pressure Prime A Name A Subtro Pressure Pressent Subtro Pressure Pressent Subtro Pressure Pressent Subtro Pressure Pressent Subtro Pressent Subtro Pressent Prestro Pressent Prestro Pressent	L. Carra	P-121 Phaton control mon	ab 194 0.00 0000 094
P Sum1 A Ps Sutton Pressure Pressure III Sutton Pressure Pressure III Sutton Pressure Pressure III Sutton Pressure Pressure Pressure IIII Sutton Pressure Pressure Pressure IVE Pressure IVE Pressure IVE Pressure IVE Pressure IVE Pressure Pressure <td>AI</td> <td>WID Ten Photosterit Countering</td> <td>Podule nav Pin mit Nav mit</td>	AI	WID Ten Photosterit Countering	Podule nav Pin mit Nav mit
Az Marcel Distribution Marce	7.	A Button Pressure	9:3Mod Unds 4.00 20:00 #4
A2 Unit D Tag Measurement Conception Toole Day Person Macrosk	R Com	Server ID Server Locators	Clared eng His Hax Units
A2 Unit ID Tag Measurement Conception Provide Days Period Macraik.	W.Callin	P-1111 Lipitesy by 24	All Unda 0.00 prodo.co ip'a
A lifed Inschools Pressure	A2	(Nel ID) Tem Presentation Constitution	Hodule Days Plet InA Max toA
	#	A Pit Dischorge Pressure	SCHWI 444 2 4/81 2 2152 84
	19 COUR	TEO Downstream tap 345	ac Lints c.co dincontra in-

Almost anything than can be connected to a powered 4..20 mA current loop can be measured in this section (to hook up in series with an existing current loop, use the Isolated Input tab).

The raw signal shown in this panel is the current in miliamps produced by the transducer (typically 4..20 mA).

The SI unit list is longer than for the frequency/time inputs:

1	(n/a)
	deg C
	Hz
	RPM
	Revs
	Secs
V	' kPa
Ê.	%
	Volts
	mm
	m / sec
	m^3
	m^3 / sec
	10^3 m^3 / hr
	J
	kJ / kg
	kJ / kg deg K
	kΨ
	MJ / kwh
	SCM / kwh
	kg / ACM
	MJ / SCM
	other

Some more things to consider:

Min .. Max

If your scaled measurement falls outside this range, it will be flagged as being out of range.

Corrected Measurements

Measurements of speed, temperature, or pressure may also be "Corrected" to ambient conditions. You specify the ambient pressure and temperature in *Define Calculations.vi*, which can be reached by clicking "Calculations" in the main menu.

The corrections are made as follows:

$$d = \frac{P_a}{P_b}$$

$$q = \frac{T_a + 273.15}{T_b + 273.15}$$

$$P_c = \frac{P_f + P_a}{d} - P_b$$

$$T_c = \frac{T_f + 273.15}{q} - T_b$$

$$N_c = \frac{N}{q^j}$$

Where P, T, and N are pressures (kPa), temperatures (deg C) and speeds (RPM), and subscripts a, b, f, and c are ambient, base, flowing, and corrected.



The TGN data conditioning system includes four isolated inputs, which are designed to be connected in series with a station current loop.

The current loop is converted to a voltage using a 50 ohm sampling resistor, and the voltage is isolated using and Analog Devices isolation amplifier.

The raw signal should always be in the range 0.2 .. 1.0 Volts. Other than that, these signals operate in the same way as the other current loop signals.

Derived Points

In addition to the signals you acquire from the PXI chassis, you can create four types of "Derived Points":

- Manual inputs
- Shared signals
- Averaged signals
- Sums and differences

You select which of these you wish to configure by selecting the appropriate tab

All four types are saved in the same file. By default, the system will propose *Station name.der* as the name for this file, but you can use any file name you wish. By default, only files with the extension .der are visible in the open and save dialog boxes.



If you are unable to measure a signal, you can still input it manually.

If your measurements are for speeds, pressures, or temperatures, they can be corrected for ambient conditions.

Like measured signals, you can scale the values you enter to other engineering units.

Manual inputs are only requested when you add to the *Snapshot Buffer*, or on the first scan. You can use the most recent manual inputs, or change them (press Tab to move from item to item; Enter when you're done):

1 :Ps	\$5000.0000	kPa
:Pd	0000.0000	kPa
1 :dPo1	42.0000	kPa
1 :Po1	\$5500.0000	kPa
1:P2	\$6000.0000	kPa
1.Pa	\$ 95.4500	kPa
l :Ts	\$-5.0000	C
1 :Td	20.0000	C
1 :To1	-5.0000	c
1 :Ta	12.0000	C
1:Tscrub	\$5.0000	C
1:Tadj	\$3.0000	C
1:N1	\$14000.0000	RPM
1 :N2	\$16500.0000	rpm

Shared signals

1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	12000000			
	112			Shared Signa
- 7 U.	Unit ID Teg	Source	Measurement Description	Corected?
	A Ps	= B:P9	Shared suction pressure	
	Unit ID Tag	Source	Measurement Description	Corrected?
	A Ts	= B:Is	Shaved suction temperature	

You can assign more than one tag to a signal. You can specify any PXI or manually input measurement.

Averaged signals

1	(Averages
1000	A lite	=:Avie	rage of:				
	M 1970	1 10 E	A:Id1	ElA:Td2	A:Ids	201 korwit	Thurns

You can also average a number of signals together.

There is no limit to the number of signals you can average, and you can include signals more than once if you want to weight the average in their favour.

You can average any PXI, manual, or shared signals.

Sum and Differences

				Sum & Difference
40	Lipit ID Tag			
	A dP -	A:Pd - A:P	s 🗐 - 🗐(None)	1 - 1 (None)
			5 - (None)	(None)

You can also apply addition and subtraction operators.

The pop-up menus show the PXI, manual, shared, and averaged signals, as well as all of the flow measurements (logically, you should define the flow devices, and then come back to define the Sum & Difference signals).

The unit of measure is determined by the first signal you specify. The system does **not** check the rest of the signals for compatible units.

If you check the "Corrected" checkbox and the unit of measure is compatible, the resultant measurement will be corrected for ambient conditions.

Flow Measurements

The Performance Testing software supports a number of flow measurements devices, each of which has a tag in the Define Flow Devices vi:



The flow measurement devices fall into two categories: those that rely on a pressure differential, and those that measure a positive displacement and generate an electrical pulse for each unit of gas which has passed through the device.

Since the windows for each meter type are quite similar, we'll just show one for each category.

In addition to the flow tag, two tags are automatically created for each flow device: tag.fpv, and tag.z (the supercompressibility and compressibility factors). These are calculated using either the 1985 or 1992 version of AGA-8, using the detailed calculation method.

To remove a flow device, give it an empty tag name. It will be removed when you click "Done".

The flow device setup is saved with a file extension of ".fld".

	Define Flow Devices.vi
Orifice Plates	Office Hans Suction (Eq. Elbow Vertical Full Notice Full Notice
	Image: Construction Plan Plan </th
	Construction of the second sec
	CALL OF THE CONTRACT OF THE CALL OF THE CA
	Last 2 - Ten Control 2 - Contr
	Control Test Control II II II II III Control Test Test Test Test Test Test Test Test
	The second secon
	Line Holy Revert Same As Same Done
	One of the most common (and most accurate) methods of flow measurement is the orifice plate. In a minor departure from the rest of this system, you can specify the run geometry in either inches or millimeters.
	The flow calculation can be performed using either the 1985 or 1992 version of the AGA-8 a AGA-3 calculations (you specify the AGA-3 calculation; the corresponding AGA-8 calculati is also performed). Of the two calculations, AGA-8 is by far the most time-consuming.
	Although the AGA-8 calculations can be made using either the "detailed" method, or one of two "gross characterization" methods, the Performance Testing software always selects the detailed calculation method. The time required for this calculation is dependent on the num of gas components which were defined in the Station setup.
	It's assumed that the calibration you defined for dP already includes any necessary static pressure and offset compensation, as well as any necessary temperature compensation. There no provision for dual-ranged dP signals.
Suction / Eye and	— These flow measurement methods are similar in principal to orifice plate measurement, but a usually only valid over a relatively small flow range.
Elbow Meters	In practice, a flow run defined using one of these techniques is compared with an orifice plate on the same run. Using the orifice plate as a reference flow device, a coefficient is experimentally derived for the suction / eye or elbow meter.

Ori

2006-02-03 Performance Testing — User's Guide

	ACTION 2.1	- 1 m		d comments	APR A CARRIER	1		
								Sectors) Dys
	Aut ID 1	•2	н	1E	. debail	Lin .	Gel.	
11	0 10	Se 1	2011 Plant	Ditter	Didha	20.125	10d	AGAINS

The Performance Testing software can calculate these coefficients — to do so, click "Meter Coefs" in the main menu (don't do this until you've defined all of the flow devices):

	Unit s Tag	Dischert?	Dorald Hete Soutail 2 Diesette	Caleoluted trialer Constant \$10,00000	Haw - 5-T \$10.00	Hen- Sefferent \$9.900	Reinnin flior 21 or	Revision \$40,0000
	1994 1995		Daniel (642 (postpa) (30.000)	Constant North Constant December:	10= 6.0 21010	titien i Betternik Tielez	Honorana Tota Statistic	
	(94) (94)	mail etc optimiset -	Spring The Ports) 2010 and	f Participation Participation Decement	.m 5/1 ≣#1/6	H	6-3-10-1 ()+- 2-10-1 2-10-10	Petropy 1/29-0060
- 11 - 53	Ellion Meter	3						
00 174 174 174 174	trun vitar	in part 21 Arthony 1 Arthony	19500' Halos (Silling Sales	The state	75 m	History File Char	
	9448 7128	Harrist 19-1	- Stranger	Stranges COV-1	212 11 00	Ton and	Patrima Pic-	- Foreite
	144	history Lipsteriou	The Second Contents	The Control Control Control	no. Line	1990 Pro-	Cationana Print Elisten	taratar taratar
1	Present in the	watestrace				25		-

All of the Suction / Eye and Elbow meters you have defined appear in this window. Check "Update Constant?" for each flow measurement for which you wish to calculate the meter coefficient.

Make sure that the reference flow device is correct for each of these flow measurements, and click "Calculate Constants".

This VI will average a number of "Normal Scans" together, and use the calculated flows to calculate a new meter coefficient (remember, only for the flows where you checked "Update Constant").

If you wish to update your configuration with the new coefficients, click "Update Config" button to view the flow device configuration screen. The meter coefficient will be automatically updated for each meter for which you checked "Update Constant?". Click "Save" to save your changes, and "Done" to return to this screen.

Vortex and Turbine	OfficeTables Same Dec Series Tob Same P.D Same Marries	
flow meters	13m Unit II Teg ift 11 Frederick Fullesco 2 o Novel 20 m 20	
	Pleasaneet Destables	

	Both vortex and turbine meters require a frequency measurement, which is normally supplied by one of the counter / timer inputs to the PXI.
	To convert the actual flow measured by these meters to standard flow, the AGA-7 calculation is used (the 1985 version is always used, as there is no 1992 version).
P.D. meters	Positive Displacement meters operate in the same way as vortex and turbine meters, except that a time measurement, rather than a frequency measurement, is required.
Venturi Meters	Although you can enter information for a Venturi meter, the Performance Testing system doesn't calculate the flow (you still get the AGA-8 compressibility and FPV values).

Define Calculations

In addition to flow calculations, there are two other main groups of calculations: Equation of state (compression thermodynamics), and ASCV capacity calculations.

To the right of the screen, are the Station Conditions, which you always need to specify:

Static	n Conditions	
Ta	D;Ts	
Pa	D:Pa	5
Qstn	DoQstm	

You can either type in the tag names, or select them from a pop-up by clicking the arrow to the right of the field. If you type the tag name in, the system will try to auto-complete the tag name, so you only need to type in enough characters to make the tag unique. Note that you can't type in the name of a non-existent tag.



When you create a new calculation, you need to tell the system where to find the inputs to the calculation:



As with the station conditions, you can either type in the name of the tag, or click the little arrow to select from a pop-up list. For your convenience, only tags with a compatible Unit of Measure will appear in the pop-up list.

If you don't set the "Calculate?" checkbox, the compression calculations will not be performed. Remember that you can request as many calculations as you want, .

Each calculation produces a large number of results. Each result is assigned to a tag. The lefthand portion of the panel defines all of the tags which will be produced by the calculation. They are assigned default values, which you can change if you wish.

You can perform as many equation of state calculations as you want. Each entry in the Equation of State array corresponds to one set of calculations. You can skip these calculations for some compressor units, or perform them more than one for the same unit. If you perform the calculations for the same unit more than once, remember to give the results unique names.

Please note that you need to specify the Station Conditions in the upper portion of the window (they apply to all of the Equation of State and ACSV calculations).

By default calculation definitions are saved in a file named Station.equ.

Checking for missing measurements If you click "Check", the system will check for missing measurements, and display a message itemizing any that are missing.



You can also calculate the anti-surge control valve capacity for any number of compressor units.

Configuring the ASCV capacity is similar to configuring the Equation of State calculations. The k and Z inputs normally would be the kd and Zd calculated values for this unit.

You can look up Fp tables by clicking "View Fp Table":

Valve		d/D						
Size (in)	0.50	0.60	0.70	0.80	0.90			
Mark 1 & 2, Class	<u>150-1500</u>							
1/2, 3/4	0.91	0.93	0.96	0.98	0.99			
16	0.94	0.95	0.97	0.98	1.00			
824	0.96	0.97	0.98	0.99	1.00			
3048	0.92	0.94	0.96	0.99	1.00			
Class 2500								
1/216	0.98	0.98	0.99	0.99	1.00			
Valdisk								
3	0.84	0.87	0.91	0.95	0.99			
4, 6	0.80	0.84	0.88	0.94	0.98			
812	0.77	0.82	0.87	0.93	0.98			
1424	0.70	0.75	0.82	0.90	0.97			

Typical Piping Geometry Factors

Fp, Expander Only Full Area Trim

Valve			d/D		
Size (in)	0.50	0.60	0.70	0.80	0.90
Mark 1 & 2, Class	<u>150-1500</u>				
1/2, 3/4	1.05	1.06	10.70	10.60	1.05
16	1.03	1.04	1.04	1.04	1.03
824	1.02	1.03	1.03	1.03	1.02
3048	1.04	1.05	1.06	1.05	1.03
Class 2500					
1/216	1.01	1.01	1.01	1.01	1.01
Valdisk					
3	1.11	1.14	1.15	1.14	1.09
4, 6	1.16	1.21	1.24	1.21	1.12
812	1.20	1.27	1.31	1.27	1.16
1424	1.36	1.52	1.62	1.52	1.28

Data Management

When you've completed the setup steps, or if you wish to resume a test, click "Test Prep." in the main menu:

2 Data Management.vi File Edit Grenate Tools Browse Window Heb	
Connected to hardware - new session Connected t	Import from Spreadsheet
Connected to hardware - resume a session Connected to hardware - resume a session Support Renate Det Buffers T T T T T T T T T T T T T	Optional (at end) Save Buffers Save Buffers Stop Scan
N Scar () 20 Acquisitor Screet (Po) () 12 Part -> Normal Decimation	Nance Broof Tags See Fulfer tas 505 See Fulfer tas 105 Fail Son Buffer See 100 Fail Son Buffer See 100 Read Status Help Done

There are four coloured sections on this window, corresponding to different things you might wish to do:

A new Session

If this is a new test, and you've gone through the setup steps, use the "Connector to hardware — new session" section.

"Check Config" makes sure that you've set up the flow and equation of state calculations correctly. If there's an issue, you'll see a warning message:

The following "Normal Scar defined more than once: 1:Td	r" lags have been
Сок	Suppress Alerts \$60 Time (seca

When you click "Make Buffers", the system will create in-memory buffers:

The Performance Testing system uses three main types of buffers to hold signals acquired from the PXI chassis and calculated values: *Snapshot Buffer, Normal Scan Buffer,* and *Fast Scan Buffer.*

Each of these circular buffers can be a different size, selectable from the pop-up menus at the bottom of the window, or in "Preferences".



It's important to define your test configuration before you create a buffer set, because each buffer "knows" how many channels it can hold. If you change the number of channels (by adding or removing tags from the scan list), you need to create a new buffer set.

Snapshots are always saved to disk immediately, so you are asked to create a file to hold Snapshots as soon as the buffer is created. Normal and Fast Scan buffers are only created in memory.

We suggest you make the Snapshot Buffer larger than you think would be necessary. If you exceed the number of allotted points, the in-memory Snapshot Buffer will re-use the earlier points (although the file on disk will still contain all of the points).

Sampling rates

Two important setting to check before starting the scan are:

2.0 Acquisition Speed (Hz)
 120 Fast -> Normal Decimation

The acquisition speed is the rate at which the PXI chassis is sampled. Due to the calculations which are performed on the signals, a rate of about 2 Hz is suggested. Signals are acquired into the "Fast" buffer. Every so often, a certain number of "Fast" signals are averaged together to form a new "Normal" signal set.

If you acquire at 2 Hz, and use a Fast->Normal decimation factor of 120, a new "Normal" point will be created every minute.

After you've created a set of buffers, click "Start Scan" to start data acquisition. The scan indicator moves to "Scan":



A new window is added to the task bar, called "Acquire PXI.vi". The window is normally minimized, but you can view it to monitor the signals as they are acquired:
Cold. Consulta Table Track	Stan Million		_	_		And and
Edit Chevate Tools Buowse M	ndow Heb					-
						1
leasurement					a local de la company	
1.0			n/s.	~	0.00	
1.0			tyle	\sim	0.00	
			n)c	\sim	0,00	
0.0			TVC	\sim	0,00	
n.+			TV:s	\sim	0,00	
			ty's	\sim	0.00	
1.25			N/C	\sim	0,00	
8.0-			TVC	100	9,00	
			TV:s	\sim	0.00	
-0.25			tyle	~~	0.00	
-0.4 -			NC	$\sim \sim$	0,00	
			TVC	100	0.00	
-0.8			TV:s	~~	0,10	
-8.18-			tyle	\sim	0.00	
10			NC	\sim	30.00	
Territor Danagentary	Francisco Instit		TVC	- * **	0.00	
Rate (Hz)	FL D IN	C FL LENSSE?	ny's	\sim	0,00	
2.00	The loss	G ED Immark?	tyle	\sim	0.00	
and a second sec	F2 10.00	C El Thursday	n/c	\sim	30.00	
Prompt for Menual?	F-4 0.00	O THE LEWIS CO	TVC	~~	0.00	
	F4 (0.00	Contractory of	τψs	1	0,00	
iangii Emor?			120	22 F		
a l			ò	Paulor	ABORT	
				and a famous and		

If a signal goes out of the range limits you defined in "PXI Setup", the red LED illuminates, and the out-of-range tags are displayed:

Range E	Error?	Tags
*	M9:N3,Stn:Pa	

In this example, the N3 signal from unit M9 is out of range, as is the Station-level signal Pa.

Resuming a previous session

If you are connected to the PXI system, and wish to resume a previous session, you would work with the items in "Connected to hardware — resume a session":

1. Get Snapshot

Get a previously saved Snapshot file. The entire configuration is saved inside the Snapshot file, so when you read the Snapshot file, it also recreates all of the configuration screens.

Get Buffers

The background buffers (Normal and Fast Scan buffers) can be saved to disk, or restored from disk to memory. If you restore a Normal Scan buffer, it can be restored as a Snapshot Buffer, to allow you to recalculate its contents.

	Note: Each of the buffers also contains a complete configuration — when you retrieve a buffer, you also retrieve the configuration which was in place <i>at the time the buffer was created</i> .
	2. Start Scan
	Operates the same as in the previous section.
Import from	You can also import data points from a spreadsheet file. This section simply duplicates "Import Pts." on the main menu.
Snapshot	Please see that section of the User's Guide for full details.
Finishing Steps	If you wish, you can save the in-memory buffers to disk at the end of a session. At a later time, you can restore them back into memory, if you are resuming the data acquisition session.
	You can also click "Stop Scan" to stop acquiring data from the PXI system. It's a good idea to stop the scan before disconnecting the PXI system.
Important Warning	Remember that changing the configuration can affect the number of tags in the scan list, so you must not do so after you have created buffers!

Monitor All Analogs

This VI lets you monitor every analog connector on the PXI chassis. Each connector is shown in a box like this:

Frank and a second second

F1 0N1	F2 N3
12000.00 RPM	900.00 Hz
F3 FF23	F4 🥑
2.30 secs	NaN (n/c)

The name of the connector is in the upper left. Next to it is an indicator which is green if the connector is part of the scan, and red otherwise. The signal tag is next, with the current signal level and units of measure on the bottom. They layout mimics the connector panel of the TGN self-contained PXI chassis.

You can monitor each signal in SI units, or in your currently preferred units of measure:

Units	
SI	7
Unit Pre	fs

You can also change your unit of measure preferences:

Troubleshooting

Frequencies missing:

The frequency / time inputs are the most likely to present problems. The most common problem is that the input signal is not a true TTL signal. You may need to introduce additional signal conditioning, such as a Schmitt trigger. Also, if you are not using external isolation, you should remember that the frequency inputs are single-ended, and may be susceptible to differences between the ground plane of the PXI system, and the ground reference for your signal.

Also, the frequency inputs need to have minimum and maximum expected ranges. You may not have allowed enough time for the frequency to be measured, or it may lie outside the specified range (this range is different from the range used to signal "Out of Range".

Can't see tags:

Only a limited space is available on this panel to display tag strings. If the string is too long

to fit, it may appear blank. This does not affect the operation of the system, and is not a cause for concern.

Depending on your preferences, signals will either be set to be set to "NaN" (Not a Number) or to a very high number if they go out of range.

Note

Gas Generator Schematic

You can also monitor the signals for a compressor unit on a "schematic" display like this:



The monitoring points are preset to common tag names, but you can change any of them. If you are monitoring a signal with a tag from a different unit than the one you are viewing, you need to quality the tag with the correct unit name.

You can quickly switch between units:



There are two versions of the schematic: one for units which measure flow at the suction side of the unit, and one for units which measure flow at the discharge side.

If you want to monitor additional points, there is a block of pop-up menus in the right-hand portion of the screen:

(None)	NaN
(None)	NaN
(None)	NaN

These points do not change when you switch units.

On this panel, as with most of the operating panels, you can elect to capture Snapshots. Click the camera icon to average one or more "Fast Scan" points into a new Snapshot point. The number to the right of the camera icon is the number of Snapshots you have already acquired:



Strip Charts

Using Strip Charts

Either of the two strip charts on this window allows you to view up to half a dozen signals in a buffer. These can be selected in any order from the pop-up menus located to the left of the strip chart:



Each of the strip charts can be set to view Snapshots, Fast, or Normal points:

Gnopshots -

The number of points to be displayed is determined by the # Points setting.

You can also place cursors on the plots to measure signals. If you do, you may wish to pause the display, so that the graph doesn't change while you are using the cursors:

C Pause @ Update

If you want, you can control how the plots are displayed by clicking one of the coloured lines to the right of the pop-up menus (quite a number of options are available):



Please note that the time axis of the Snapshot strip charts will not be uniform, because points are acquired only when you ask for them.

On this panel, as with most of the operating panels, you can elect to capture Snapshots. Click the camera icon to average one or more "Fast Scan" points into a new Snapshot point. The number to the right of the camera icon is the number of Snapshots you have already acquired:



Operating Point

The Operating Point display lets you view the current operating point and snapshots on top of a couple of previously created wheel maps³ or X-Y graphs⁴.

By default, the system will attempt to display the most recently displayed wheel map and X-Y graph. If you haven't already displayed any of these graphs, you select them using the "Setup" tab.

It's OK to specify the same graph on both the right-hand and left-hand side. If you want, you can zoom in on an interesting part of the graph on one side, and display the whole graph on the other side⁵.

Overlaid on these are two more plots:

- An X-Y graph of all the points in the current Snapshot Buffer (blue crosses).
- The current operating point (from either the Slow (Normal) Scan or Fast Scan buffer), plus a selectable number of previous operating points (red squares). The current operating point is highlighted with a crosshair cursor.

Associated with each wheel map or X-Y graph are two pop-up menus from which you can select the signals used to display the operating point. The system initially attempts to set them to sensible values, but you can change them at any time.

The number of previous operating points to display is selectable:

# Points	32
----------	----

You can also display strip charts — on them this number also sets the number of points to display in the strip charts.

To clear the X-Y graph on the Wheel Map vi, click "Get Saved X-Y Graph", and then "Cancel" in the file dialog.

Note

³ To find out how to create Wheel Maps, please refer to "Wheel Maps", later in this Guide.

⁴ Creating X-Y Graphs is discussed in "X-Y Graph", later in this Guide.

⁵ This is particularly handy during surge testing - you can zoom into a wheel map on one side, and display the entire map on the other side.

Create Wheel Map



This VI ("Virtual Instrument") lets you create wheel maps from Cheesman & Wegmann coefficients, or from data points. You can display any number of speed, efficiency and power lines in your choice of colour and line style. You can display two wheel maps at a time.

The graph on the left of the screen contains the wheel map (you can overlay a second wheel map, and compare them).

There are a large number of controls for the wheel map, divided into several categories. You select the category to display from the pop-up menu in the top right-hand corner of the screen. The pop-up menu offers several choices:



Each choice causes a different group of controls to be displayed in the right-hand portion of the screen. Here are the categories:

Data Sources	Get the data points used to create a wheel map, fit a set of polynomial coefficients to the data points, and save wheel map files.
Coefficients	Cheesman coefficients used to produce speed and efficiency lines, plus coefficients for the control and surge lines.
Coefficients (Overlay)	Used to produce speed, efficiency, and control lines on the overlay wheel map.
Coefficients (Power)	Used to produce gas compression power lines on the wheel maps.
Wheel Map Range	Specify the speed, efficiency, and power lines.
Move Labels	Fine-tune the location of the label for each line.
Select Colours	Specify the colour and line style of each line.
X-Y Graph Legend	Clears out space so you can see the legend of the X-Y graph (if you are displaying one).
Wheel Information	Display information about the wheel: you would typically print wheel maps using this option.

This VI lets you create wheel maps from Cheesman & Wegmann coefficients, or from data points. You can display any number of speed, efficiency and power lines in your choice of colour and line style. You can display two wheel maps at a time.

There are a large number of controls for this VI. To manage them, they are divided into several groups, only one of which is visible at a time:



Data Sources

Most of the controls in this section are duplicated — one set for the main wheel map, and one for the overlay wheel map (if any).

Any of the operations you can perform on the main wheel map can also be performed on the overlay map.



Get from Snapshots

You can extract a set of data points from the current Snapshot Buffer:

	12
BWR Efficiency	
1 EFFbwr Repla	108
Adiabatic Eff	
(none)	
BWR Head	
1 :HEADbwr	
Adiabatic Head	
1 :HE AD ad	
Speed	
	ancel
Flow	
1 :FLOW	nport

The import function attempts to locate appropriate tags (for the first unit in the Station configuration), but you can select the measurement you want from the pop-up menus.

You can either create a new data set (the default, selected using "Replace" in the pop-up menu), or else append the points from the Snapshot Buffer to the end of the current set of data points.

After selecting the measurements you want, the "Fit Coefs to Data" window will be displayed.⁶



Fit Coefs to data

You can also import measurements from a Recalc file⁷:

Import Whee	l from Recalc.vi 📃 🗐
\$& ● ∎	Whee
BWR Efficiency M9:EFFbwr Adiabatic Eff	* Replace
₩R Head BWR Head M9:HEADbwr Adiabatic Head	
Speed M9:N3.c Flow M9:FLOW	Cancel
	•

This function works just like the Import Wheel from Snapshot VI.

Get Saved Wheel Map You can select any previously saved wheel map (the file name normally ends in ".whl".

This VI lets you create Cheesman and Wegmann coefficients from the current set of data points. You can manually add data points, and control which data points are used to compute the coefficients:

⁶ This function is described below in "Fit Coefs to Data".

⁷ The Recalc file is just a tab-delimited text file, which gives you an easy way to import data sets from other applications.

1	1	Himad NOX 1:0010	l lope Tribin	e Be	-	Tandrope	i. Adamaa	licest (FIIIII)	Had	Hiteo	Hoony	Wheel Mep Esd	Dom	Exercit		Constant of Consta
Ē	T Bin i	H 10.71	0.00	illuria.	294.3	77.0	0.0	20483	2.48	[]1.n	F 99.00	1 2.75	1 0.72	1.99.00	1900	10.00
E	100	10 D7.01	20.00	210.02	24.1	21.5	0.0	10453	2.62	下主动	99.00	3.94	1.12	99.00	2500	0.01
r	216.1	n 115.91	1.0.00	214.94	271.6	31.7	a.a	453	2.54	1.1.m	N9.00	1 5.49	T 7 st	99.10	2000	070.00
E	1 216	n II.a.aa	20.00	20.24	187.4	20.1	(p.a.	25455	2.23	2.14	(T (m) (k)	1 1.00	1 1 1	Too in T	PECE	CO.00
F	r ≞m.	H 10.79	20.00	22.71	167.4	- til A	50 n	\$54k3	1.10	115	F 99.00	1 1.03	T Kill	1000	22768	540.00
P	1.05.1	1 158.20	11,00	(ani.66)	3617	50	10.0	66463	4.46	F 4.77	00.00	1.556	F an.	Toxico T		Differences
F	- 1 ₁₀	6.22	20 m	221.m	196.9	40.9	10.11	2bies	\$1.20	Parar	F 99.00	1 21.58	17 an	F 99.00	Statute:	Distantia Mili
F	- 16.h	6.74	0.00	11.01	50.5	H47	0.0	State0	0.1+	F 0.00	1 99.00	1 1:00	TIAN	1 w.m		
P	8.8	8 \$8.77	20.00	1200.5ke	209.4	69.0	0.0	12100	1,740	T 7.60	00.00	F 8 68	E 12.88	P 99 10	1	
F	C think	97 10 at	20.00	23920 ·	166.4	203	an -	201100	1.81	T 11.76	F 99.00	F 10.31	Pites	P 99.00		
F		7 1 12:41	20.00	218.56	019.8	68.4	10 ii	0(8100	13.27	E 0.45	11 99,00	F 1699 /	F 7.18	0.00	1	
P	33.	60 \$12,57	20.00	17.28	272.0	171.6	0.0	\$5100	1.260	T11.20	79.00	F-4.77	Elana.	00.00		
P	- BIL	13 11.07	20.00	(dana)	271.4	71.3	10.0	101200	26.69	P-04.81	G 100.00	2.00	Piz.m.	1.99.00		
P	210.4	s in m	10.00	die.20	20.1	- 10.0	0.0	2b300	29.21	P 19 19	P 99.00	1 1.01	T 4.94	00.00	8	
F	1 243	29.27	in m	202010	267.4	Cen y	ir n	21,800	7.15	17.04		F # 11	TUN	10 see 10		
E	Г 1 _{7.19}	1. Dr.m.	20.00	10.10	TAL N	1912	0.1	Elenen	5.93	1 8.71	T (m. (t)	1 1.00	11.00	Poem F		
Colic H 11.000 2.100 R.S7	nof 438 e 5932 4 772 4-2	Lastroops H Inf 12042 Jul 15002 Jul 15002 Jul 15002 Plantad		Neldergan Pinas Isti II 00000 Isti II 00000 Isti II 00000 Isti Istoretti Internetti I		Color Officer Scattering Decision 4 1979/10 History D		a Status Contration Contration Contration Intert D		tropic (Pro E 2000) E 2000 E 2000 E 2000 E 2000 E 2000 E 2000	2+0 +1 2+0 +1 2+0 +1	NOVER 10 10.045270 17.02510 1.024520 1.024520 1.024520 1.024520	A1 4 5-5 6-17 6-17	1 676728 1 0 700728 1 0 720788 1 0 720788 1 676928 1 676928	Lien koge -1 k0 -1 k0	ara (11 + 2 1 00002 + 1 00002 + 1 00002 + 1 00002 + 1 00002 +

The main control in this window is a large array. Each row in this array describes a measured data point for a wheel map:

13.13 13.13 13.13 13.13 13.13 14 17.85 181.0 181.0 13203 2.51 2.51 2.55 2.75

You can elect to always use a particular data point, never use it, or to use the data point if it falls within "Tolerance %" of the fitted polynomial.

If the "Always" box has been checked, the point will never be removed from the set of points used to fit the head and efficiency curves.

If "Never" is checked, the point will never be used, no matter how well it fits.

Cheesman Coefficients The process is iterative — after a least-squares fit, points which fall more than "Tolerance %" of the fitted polynomial are removed, and the least-squares fit is performed again until no more points are removed.

If the number of points removed falls below three, a warning message is displayed.

Along with the coefficients for each of the Cheesman polynomials, the system tells you how many points were remove, and how many were used:



Wegmann Coefficients

Although it is possible (and correct) to simply fit Wegmann polynomial coefficients to the measured data, there is a fundamental problem with Wegmann's polynomial for efficiency:

$$Efficiency = W_0 + W_1 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right) + W_2 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right)^2 + W_3 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right)^3 Quite$$

simply, efficiency increases without bounds as the flow rate decreases.

We know that efficiency actually drops near the left-hand side of the wheel map (as flows decrease). In the simplified world of Cheesman, the maximum efficiency is a second order curve, and efficiency decreases to either side of that curve.

When we actually measure points for a wheel map, it is somewhat unlikely that we will measure many points to the left of maximum efficiency, as there is a danger of surge conditions existing in this region of the wheel map.

This means the constant power lines based on Wegmann efficiency will tend to rise dramatically to the left of the maximum efficiency curve, even if we cap the efficiency at 100%

A solution of sorts is to use more point to the left of maximum efficiency when we are creating the Wegmann coefficients.

We actually do this by using the points on all of the speed lines, within the total range of efficiencies over which the wheel map is drawn (using Cheesman coefficients).

If you already have a wheel map drawn, the speeds and efficiency range are automatically transferred to this VI:

Wegman					
Speeds	Efficiency %				
3200	75.00				
3500	80.00				
4000	82.00				
4500	83.52				
5000	82.00				
\$ 5500	75.00				
	70.00				
	65.00				

If you wish to change these lines, you will only affect the range of the wheel map which is used to create the Wegmann coefficients. Note that you must supply at least two speeds, and three efficiencies (left-hand side minimum, maximum, and right-hand side minimum).

By default, 50 points are taken on each speed line, uniformly distributed across the efficiency range you specify.

This will tend to force the Wegmann polynomial to be somewhat constrained over the range of the wheel map.

Calculating wn

In Wegmann's polynomial:

$$Efficiency = W_0 + W_1 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right) + W_2 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right)^2 + W_3 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right)^3 \text{ the Flow}^2$$

terms fit best if the power is slightly less than two.

GasPerf can calculate this exponent, w_n in two ways: setting it to 2.0, or actually determining the exponent which makes the polynomial fit the best:



Here is an example calculation, showing the effect of w_n on the total mean-squared error in the polynomial fit (the example is for wheel W127-36-1, installed at Nova's Vetch Lake compressor station). W_n is on the X-axis, and error is on the y-axis.



As you can see, the effect is somewhat subtle, but is still significant. The calculation of w_n can take two or three seconds.

Fit Coefs to surge data

The wheel map includes two special lines: the Surge Limit line, and the Surge Control line.



You can fit the Surge Limit line coefficients to a set of points which you manually enter:



You only need to enter two points to define a line, but you can enter as many as you wish. This VI will perform a least-squares fit to create a first-order polynomial (line) which best fits the points you enter.

You can mark points as "Always", meaning that they are always used, no matter how badly they fit, and "Never", meaning that they are never used, no matter how well they fit.

Remember, you need to click "Calculate" to calculate and plot both the Surge Limit line and the Surge Control line:

Tolerance %	
5.000	1
Calculate	

Like the Surge Limit line, you can fit the Surge Control line by entering a set of data points.

	Always Never	Cont Head	trol Line Data Flow	a Points %err	
0		5.63	7.16	0.00	
		24.43	12.60	0.00	

Alternatively, you can offset the Surge Control line by a percentage of flow from the Surge Limit line:



Note that if you use this method, you MUST define a minimum and maximum speed, as well as the Cheesman coefficients for Head (they are used to calculate the flow values at the upper and lower end of the Surge Limit line). If the speed lines and head coefficients have been defined in the main wheel map VI, they are automatically filled in for you.

When you save a wheel map, you save everything needed to create the wheel map:

- All the data points for the wheel map.
- The data points for the surge limit and surge control lines, and the method used to draw the surge control line.
- The Cheesman and Wegmann coefficients.
- Coefficients for the surge limit and control lines.
- The speeds, efficiencies, and power lines to be drawn.
- The colours and line styles of each line.
- The X and Y range of the wheel map.
- The location of each label.

The actual wheel map plot is not saved: it's redrawn whenever it's needed.

 Wheel file name
 Shows the name of the current wheel file is displayed, along with the name of the overlay wheel map.

Wheel Map report

Save as / Save

You can also create a text report showing the wheel map configuration:

2006-02-03 Performance Testing — User's Guide

<u>a</u>	Wheel Map Report.vi	a
@ (11)		8
Veri l'ac BasalT		
Manul Minatterisep Decentar Lippaties Decent Proster Storige	10. 14.0000 15. -0.0000 Max 15. .00000 Max 15. 1.00000 Max 700000 Max Max	*
Maal Ma Coeff strange		-
Werster at the		
Patienter de Manif 14 8.44002-7 12 9.71407-4 147 -0.55002-1	100 Road 100 8 c0000-0 51 9 000072-0 102 -2 50008-0	
Ministric Efficiency of 4.54007-1 al 6.78103es at 1.4errain	905 Effections a) 4 South-5 a) a 700Had at -1.400Had	
fogstate		
Hisborts Ittl: incr 4 (3903) 41 (3903) 41 (3953) 41	500 DEFICIENCY 40 4 4094E-1 42 5 544E-5 44 47046-10 44 47046-10 49 4 1004E-0	
Sange linet an - T. BODYNI pl: T.SUNIAS	Manga Manunal Limit an -a sumara ti -a.costfuu	Supp 0s Print Door

You can view the report (the scroll bar is "live"), print it out, or save it as a text file.

Cheesman Coefficients The Cheesman polynomials are an attempt to simplify wheel map characterization by using *fan law* to reduce the independent variable of a polynomial to the term $\left(\frac{Flow}{Speed}\right)$.

$$Head = Speed^{2} \left(H_{0} + H_{1} \left(\frac{Flow}{Speed} \right) + H_{2} \left(\frac{Flow}{Speed} \right)^{2} \right)$$

Where

 (H_0, H_1, H_2) are the Cheesman Coefficients

Efficiency =
$$e_0 + e_1 \left(\frac{Flow}{Speed}\right) + e_2 \left(\frac{Flow}{Speed}\right)^2$$

Where

 (e_0, e_1, e_2) are the Cheesman Coefficients

You can view and modify the Cheesman coefficients for both adiabatic and isentropic head and efficiency. Nova currently uses second-order Cheesman coefficients, although third-order coefficients are known to be more accurate.

In most cases, you'll use the "Fit Coefs to data" option under Data Sources to create new coefficients from a set of data points.



Wegmann Coefficients

The Wegmann polynomial represents another attempt to characterize wheel map information using a simple polynomial.

$$Efficiency = W_0 + W_1 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right) + W_2 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right)^2 + W_3 \left(\frac{Head \cdot 10^5}{Flow^2}\right)^3$$

Where

 (w_0, w_1, w_2, w_3) are the Wegmann Coefficients

Rather than fitting Wegmann coefficients to the measured data, we fit them to the Cheesman coefficients in the region where the wheel map is actually drawn. This somewhat reduces the tendency of Wegmann's relationship to increase without bound as the flow decreases (we also limit the maximum efficiency to 100%).

This polynomial is used to calculate gas compression power lines using the relationship:

$$kWgas = \frac{Qmass \cdot Head}{Eff}$$

Using Wegmann's equation to solve for efficiency, and solving for mass flow using:

$$Qmass = \frac{Q \cdot MW \cdot P_b}{Z \cdot R \cdot T_b}$$

we can solve for head at any given flow and gas compression power.

To do this, Andromeda devised a fast-converging iterative solution, based on a linear predictor.

The input power requirement can be expressed in either kW or hp, depending on your current unit of measure preference.



Important Note

You can have any number of speed, efficiency, and power lines:

Wheel Map Range

Speeds	Efficiency %	Power
3200	80.00	5000
3500	83.00	12500
4000	83.52	20000
4500	\$83.00	
4950	80.00	
5200	₹ 75.00	
	70.00	
	\$ 65.00	

The speed and power lines can be entered in any order. Efficiency lines are entered from left to right, with the peak efficiency line being somewhere in the middle.

If you specify an efficiency greater than the maximum efficiency, the actual peak efficiency will be used. To find the maximum efficiency, click the "Redraw" button. The maximum efficiency for the wheel map (and the overlay wheel map, if you're plotting one) are calculated and displayed under the wheel map area:

Emax	0.000
Emax (ov)	0.000

Zero entries are ignored.

You need to specify whether to use the adiabatic or isentropic (BWR) coefficients to draw the wheel map:

Adiabatic	Main
Adiabatic	Overlay

You can also tell GasPerf whether to plot an overlay wheel map, and if so, whether to label each of its lines:

Labeling the Lines

When you redraw a wheel map, you have three choices for label placement, determined by the menu just above the "Redraw Map" button:

Redraw Map Prefs		
Draw labels at saved positions		
Redraw Map	Done	
Redraw Labels	Help	

Redraw labels at default positions

The labels will be placed as follows: to the right of speed lines, above efficiency lines, and near the middle of power lines. The surge limit line is labeled to the left, near the bottom third of the line, and the surge control line is labeled to the right, near the upper third.

In many cases, this is all you will need to do.

Redraw labels at saved positions

If you've previously saved this wheel map, you can redraw the labels at the positions they were in when you saved the wheel map. The graph range is also restored. If the saved position is too far from the default position, the default position will be used.

Don't move labels on redraw

Redraw the lines, but don't move any labels. This is handy if you want to redraw the lines with more line segments (to obtain a smoother line when you print the wheel map).

Set the view selector to "Move Labels" to change the label positions. You can either move the labels manually, or you can use the cursor controls.

Moving Labels Around

Start by making sure that the crosshair control is selected in the graph palette:

1.88 .88	@ +	
11 x 5 a a a a	3	

While you are moving labels, the control point for each label is visible as a small circle:

4500 RPM

You can move labels by simply dragging the control points with the mouse. Or, you can select the labels you want to move by selecting them in the cursor list. In the example below, we'll move the 4000 and 4500 RPM labels together (note that they are both selected):

3200 RPM	12.09	5.43	0
3500 RPM	13.10	6.91	0
4000 RPM	14.72	9.46	0
4500 RPM	16.69	11.61	0
4950 RPM	18.03	15.56	0
5200 RPM	18.90	17.53	0
80.0%	9.88	37.95	0

Now you can move the selected labels by clicking the cursor arrows:



Colours and line styles

You can assign colours to the speed, efficiency, power, surge, and surge control lines by clicking a colour selector, and holding down the mouse button. A colour pop-up menu appears — select any colour you want from the list:



The changes you make don't take effect until you click "Redraw Labels", or switch views.

Overlay Wheel Map

In addition to the control available for the main wheel map, you can select the line styles to be used for each of the lines on the overlay wheel map:

Overlay Lines		
		
		
		
•		

Remember that overlay wheel maps are only plotted if you request them:

Overlay?

The Gas Composition fields in this area are used to compute the gas compression power lines:

Wheel Information

Wheel #	W127-36-1	MW	17.000
Manuf	C.E.S.	Pb 🖣	101.33
Booster #	SN 1650 PC	Pf 🖣	5200.00
Impeller #	RFB836	Tf 🖡	28.00
	6%	z	0.9026
Curve #	0.78	Test 🛢	1993-07-13
Diameter	953 mm	Print \$ 1996-10-20	
Station	Vetchland 2		Test Notes
This area can be used for test notes, or for comments regarding any limitations in the wheel map (for example, that measurements were only made at a limited number of speeds).			

Pb (base pressure) and Pf (flowing pressure) must be in kPa. Tf (flowing temperature) must be in deg C.

This is probably the view you would use for printed wheel maps.

If the power lines are flat, it's typically because you haven't entered the gas composition data into this screen.

The General X-Y graph lets you plot any measured or calculated signal against any other signal. You can place as many *plots* as you wish on an X-Y graph.

For each plot, you can display a fitted curve, the underlying data points, or both. The fitted curve can be displayed over an arbitrary X-axis range, including extrapolated ranges:

General X-Y Graph



You can display the plots in a wide range of colours, line styles, line widths, and point styles. These can be changed by clicking on an individual plot in the *legend*:



When you click and hold the mouse button down while the cursor is over the line or plot area to the right of a plot name, a pop-up menus appears, which lets you change the plot attributes (note that there are separate entries for the fitted curve, and for the underlying data points for each plot):



The buttons in the lower-right hand corner of the window have the usual meanings (remember that you can always show the floating help window to obtain help for a specific control):

Get	Save	Help
Revert	Save As	Done

To import data from the current *Snapshot Buffer*, or from a saved X-Y graph, click the *Data Set Details* button:



The *X-Y Data Points* vi which appears also lets you fit polynomial curves to the data sets, specify the range over which to plot the fitted curve, and specify whether to display data points on the X-Y plot.

X-Y Data Points

The *X-Y Data Points* vi is used to build X-Y graphs. It lets you import data from the current Snapshot Buffer, or from a saved X-Y graph. You can also fit polynomial curves to data sets, specify the range over which to plot the fitted curves, and specify whether to display data points on the X-Y plot.

This vi displays an array of *plots*. Each element of the array corresponds to an individual plot:



Like the configuration arrays, the plots displays are initially grayed out, indicating that there is nothing at the current position in the array. Click one of the control button for the plot to create a plot at the current index (zero in the example above). You can have any number of plots in an X-Y graph.

Import from Snapshot	You can import a set of plot data from the current Snapshot Buffer:
Buffer	Import X-Y from Snapshot Buf.vi X values Y values 1 M2 Us, 1 PWRs.bwr Cancel Import
Importing from an X-Y Graph	You can also import a plot from an existing X-Y graph. You are asked to locate an X-Y graph, and the following dialog appears: Import from H-Y Graph File.vi @raph Title This is the Title Import this Plot @raph. @raph. <t< td=""></t<>



Additionally, you can import a data set from a recalc file:

Importing from a Recalc

file

In each case, you can either replace the plot you see on the screen, or simply append new data points to it. When you *replace* a plot, attributes such as the X & Y tags and units are also imported.

The name you give to each plot (top right-hand corner) will be used to label the plot in the X-Y Graph legend.

You can fit a polynomial curve to the data points by clicking the "Calculate" button. You can specify a polynomial order from 0 to 6, and a tolerance percentage.

The curve fitting procedure is iterative: a polynomial of the specified order is calculated using a least-squares fit, and the SVD coefficient fitting algorithm. Following this, points which are more than Tolerance % from the fitted curve are removed, and the procedure is repeated until no more points are removed from the calculation. You can see how many points were used, and how many were rejected:



You can also control the point selection manually. Points which you specify as "Always" being included are always used in the curve fit, no matter how badly they fit the polynomial curve. You can also specify that points should "Never" be included in the curve fit.

For each point, you can see how far it is away from the calculated curve, and whether it was selected for automatic removal:

	Always Never	X value	Y Value	% err		Timestamp
e) o	ГΠ	6054.0000	\$3569.2000	0.00	IC	12:43:07
	CC;	6054,0000	3569.2000	0.00][12:43:20
	EE;	6054.0000	\$3569,2000	0.00	JΓ	12:50:07
	пп;	6126:0000	3637.8999	0.00		13:23:16
	ГΓ	6120.0000	3637.8999	0.00		13:23:48
		6176.0000	\$3756.5000	0.00		13:51:01

You can also manually enter new data points.

Extrapolation	This VI arbitrarily limits you to sixth-order polynomial curves, on the grounds that higher order curves will virtually always contain unwanted inflection points.
	This becomes most evident if you extrapolate a polynomial curve beyond the measured data range — the behavior of the polynomial may have little or no relationship to the physical system.
	It's generally a good idea to use a low-order polynomial for curve fitting unless you know that there is a physical relationship which requires a higher-order polynomial to model.
	You can fit a polynomial to the data set for each plot. You can choose a polynomial order between 1 and 6, and a tolerance beyond which data points will be rejected (polynomial fitting works just the way it does for the wheel map).
Displaying Plots	For each plot, you can display the fitted curve, the data points, or both: Show Curve?
	For the fitted curve, you can select the range over which you wish to plot the polynomial: Min X 10.00
	Max X 336.00 When you calculate new coefficients, the Min X and Max X values are set to match the data set range.
Deleting Plots	You can delete the current plot (the one you can see) by clicking:
	Purge This Plot
Sorting	You can sort the current data points in ascending order of X-Value (this doesn't affect how the plot is displayed, but may help you to see relationships in the data points, or to find specific data points. Data points are initially imported in time stamp order):



X-Y Graph at Multi-Base Conditions

You can create an X-Y graph in which each plot shows the same X and Y signals, but calculated at different base conditions.

An example of this might be to plot power as a function of some other variable at different base temperature conditions:



You can create this X-Y graph using any X and Y signals in the Snapshot Buffer, but it doesn't make sense to plot variables which do not change with the base conditions (because each of the plots would be identical).

When you click "OK", the system starts to recalculate the Snapshot Buffer at each of the specified base conditions (a progress monitor tells you which one is being calculated).

When the calculations are complete, you see the "X-Y Data Points" vi. Here you can make any changes you want to the X-Y graph.

The software will initially try to fit second-order polynomials to each of the plots, with a 5% error tolerance.

When you're satisfied with the plot data, click "Done" to display the X-Y graph.

The X-Y graph produced by this VI is just like any other X-Y graph: you can save the graph, add data series, hide plots, and extrapolate the fitted curves as desired.

ASCV Capacity Graph



You can create an X-Y graph with a plot for each ASCV position in the Snapshot Buffer:

This VI will initially propose the BWR head vs. actual flow for the first unit, but you can use any combination of variables in the Snapshot Buffer. The value you use for "Head" will be the Y axis, and the "Flow" variable will be the X axis.

You can select the variables to be used in two ways:

- Type the desired tag name into one of the upper string controls (if the unit is the same as the UnitID shown at the top, they do not need to be qualified by a unit name).
- Select tags from the pop-up menus in the lower area.

The Snapshot Buffer will be divided into as many segments as there are ascv positions, and sorted by ascv position⁸.

When you click "OK", the system will add the point (0,0) to each plot, and will attempt to fit a second order polynomial to each ascv position. The "X-Y Data Points" vi will be displayed: at this point, you can edit points, add plot segments, and calculate new polynomials to describe each plot.

Click "Done" to view the X-Y graph.

⁸ This method assumes that the ASCV position will be manually entered (there presently is no provision to group values which are similar but not identical).

Importing Data Points

If you are not connected to the data acquisition hardware, you can import data points from a spreadsheet, by selecting "Import Pts" from the main menu. You are asked to located a tabdelimited spreadsheet file:

RapidCity 🗾	C:
8	
🗋 bad.txt	
🗋 Ken.equ	
D Ken.rec	
🗋 Ken.stn	
🗋 Ken.txt	
Derf 30D - Rapid City CAPS GasPer	
D perf 30D - Rapid City CAPS GasPer	DK
🗋 pert 30D CAPS.rec 🔄	1.96
Please locate a tab delimited spreadsheet file (.txt or .rec) -	Cancel
perf 30D - Rapid City CAPS GasPerf	Help
Custom Pattern 💌 🔭	

Your spreadsheet is displayed:

Part Tyr eachivert Drive D Cold D Greger O Terpel D Terpel D Terpel D TEADs D	Parent Expressional Sector 1 Decempend 1 Herper 1 (DPCADE & DEFEACE D 2 Theorem 10 T2). DEFEADING DETERMINED TETERMINED TO T2) (UNITED A DEFEADING DETERMINED A D	- 120			_	_		_		_					_			_	_	-
Occ Disclet Disclet <thdisclet< th=""> <thdisclet< th=""> <thdiscl< th=""><th>Orea Dicket <thdicket< th=""> <thdicket< th=""> <thdicket< th=""></thdicket<></thdicket<></thdicket<></th><th>post by</th><th>reactivity</th><th>t</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></thdiscl<></thdisclet<></thdisclet<>	Orea Dicket Dicket <thdicket< th=""> <thdicket< th=""> <thdicket< th=""></thdicket<></thdicket<></thdicket<>	post by	reactivity	t																
		ICve 17 kg de 6490303 6090303 6090303 6090304 6090303 6090300 609030 6090000000000000000000000000000000000	D. C.M. 1 A.J. (10) 46 : 1. 7136441 1. 7136441 1. 7136441 1. 713676 1. 720678 1. 720678 1. 720679 1. 720679 1. 720679 1. 721670 1. 721670 1. 721670	2 Lappe After 1. 360710 1. 360700 1. 360506 1. 3905074 1. 39050	D Inequal other 1.367107 1.367108 1.367108 1.367108 1.367057 1.366705 1.366711 1.366710 1.366710 1.366506 1.366506 1.366506	D happer other 1, 36,3974 1, 36,3974 1, 36,3781 1, 36,3781 1, 36,3780 1, 36,3780 1, 36,3987 1, 36,3987 1, 36,3987 1, 36,3987 1, 36,3120 1, 36,3120	D/HEAD+ SO (10) 16:007962 16:007962 16:00795 16:0075 16:0	D-HEADw hill (16) 141 (105867) 141 (105867) 141 (10587) 141 (10587) 141 (10587) 141 (10587) 141 (10587) 141 (10587) 141 (10587) 151 (10587	Di 37%eet hij 16 70.42740 70.42740 77.71066 77.71066 76.03470 76.03470 76.03470 76.03551 76.05551 76.05551 76.05719 75.05719	0 (T2) (Hg C 25, 36(9) 25, 36(9) 25, 37(10) 25, 37(10) 25, 54(10) 25, 54(10) 25, 54(10) 25, 54(10) 25, 54(10) 25, 54(10) 25, 54(10) 25, 54(10) 26, 55(10) 26, 17(10) 26, 1	Dumbalay 53 (kg 15 20972) 15 20272 15 21020 15 21020 15 21020 15 21020 15 21020 15 21020 15 21020 15 21020 15 21020 15 2007 16 40202 16 40202 16 40205 16 40205	ColDitiput 394 42060 394 42060 394 42060 393 30001 393 8543 393 8543 492 76552 392 77542 392 7114 393 3943 392 77542 391 7960 391 79602 391 49602 391 49727	Di Taji Hegi (25. 1980) 25. 1980) 25. 1980) 25. 1991 26. 1991 26. 1992 26.	D 5999633 EW 120672 211 120672 201 12070 IIII 120672 201 12070 IIII 12073 IIII 12073 IIII 12073 IIII 12075 201 15057 201 15067 211 15075 211	DI PH/NEL 1 INF 13017 75 13177 52 13177 52 131777 52 131777 52 131777 52 1317775 1317775 131775 131775 131775 131775 131775 131775	D-17407a - a AW 1.7701 - 38 1.7701 - 13 1.0701 - 13 1.4399 37 1.4399 37 1.4399 37 1.4399 38 1.4399 38 1.4399 38 1.0913 48 1.63936 00 1.0990 49 1.6706 66	C1184Com Id J184 Id J18476 Id J18772 Id J18772 Id J18779 Id Henst Id S01964 Id S	D-0279-ad % 76,750.035 76,794.035 76,58409 76,58409 76,58409 75,54027 75,04027 74,00394 74,00394 74,00294 74,00294 74,00294 74,00294 74,00294 74,00294 75,0127 75,0	Diffe of Dep 1, 003399 1, 003399 1, 003399 1, 003396 1, 003396 1, 003376 1, 003376 1, 003376 1, 003376 1, 003376 1, 003376 1, 003361 1, 003361	

In the bottom right-hand corner of the window, you see instructions for each portion of the data import:

Assign units of m "n/a" or "-" if unit Remove columns	easure if they a dess), that you will be	re missing (use recalculating,
<< Prev	Cancel	Next >>

So there are two things we need to do before clicking Next:

1. Remove columns you don't need

You might not need some of the columns in your spreadsheet, or they might contain values that you'd like to recalculate. To get rid of them, move the cursor to the upper border of the table. The cursor changes to a downward pointing arrow. Drag through the columns you don't need. The column grid turns blue, indicating that the columns are selected. Then right-click, and select "Cut Data" from the pop-up menus which appears.

2. Assign units of measure

The second row is reserved for units of measure. You can assign any SI or U.S. Customary unit of measure which GasPerf can display. The list of unrecognized units of measure is kept up to date:

D:IGV	D:Zs	D:Zd	D	Fpvs	D:Fpv	/dd	D:RH	Os
D:RHOd	D:M	lcps	D:N	/icpd	D:kapp	oas	D:	
kappad	D:ka	appaA	vg	D:ks	D:kd	D:	kavg	D:

Unrecognized Units of Measure:

Some column, like Date and Time, won't have units of measure.

When you're removed the columns you don't need, and everything has a unit of measure that needs one, click Next:

plut Sprawid																
d a	Thes	Trreaturg	Relative free	0.01	R/11	Dital	D. Tel.	P11ff	O.P.	11:84	D:Fa	D(Pel	ID (RF	DidPee.	DedFel	Ē
		103	5ec	log C	dept	degiC	1001 C	deg C.	sife :	M ² H	16.9	14%	344	IPa .	NFR .	
ug 16, 2001	[11 P0.07 AM	13504065631	0.000000	17.31030	0126-87641	137,71007	17.22696	17.94588	S391.09	11026-74	196,81,395	C394 664	• S295.66	7153.4113	111,005	
2216, 2001	11 (41:29 AM	12071#2401	10,150000	17.3104	28.005.54	17,75394	17,20040	117.34307	3300.001	1.0015.W	195.8145	1388,200	0 (5156, M	6,50,3478	11.777	
ag16, 2009	11 50 SI7 XM	120718-3007	435.07000T	17,2944	128.35000	117.61230	17 40103	0.1162	5 301.1/90	18012,341	1 105.7990-	11390.799	1106.71	2 53 3479	114,0778	
00 IN 2005	12:23:10 PM	328706493	2408,699951	17.3209	317.14858	E. 19EN	18 396!	17.36688	5381.214	6018.41	1.99,78875	9,5198,56	1 5279.28	4 FS 8233	113413421	
2016 2005 ·	12:23:48 (11)	3287065028	2447.794883	17.7199	117.11076	HE 43933	18.18933	17-14-768	5 381 D90	6019-29	19,7/995	5198.09	+ 5279,46	7-95-7315	1114.480	
ag 16, 2009	12:01:01:04	T(0006660)	1008;600010	17,3500	27.40785	10.22974	18.09581	17.3423	5 369.508	1000.25	1 95-7983	1177.625	5 5252.00	0-50.1679	1 15 448	
ag 16, 2009	12:01:13:04	1007062675	4006,8899911	17.1349	SIT. 40337	1D D4724	18.51771	17.34155	13 369.632	2 8000 38	05/200	1 2177.300	1 12:42.00	5-5111408	11.121	
JQ 14.2005	1115-09 PM	\$207068109	5521.907217	17.0431	27.66113	19,87978	18,69493	17.02799	5961.073	3 6019.54	9 90, 73399	5369.660	2 5243-95	8 61.0912	1 15 791	
/g te: 2805	1115(27 FP)	12870681.27	5834.809082	17,3461	127.66942	比例加	18,7004	17.32678	15,360,795	9 6819 74	E196 20060	18369.684	0.5246.91	4160.9839.	15-83t	
iq 14, 2005	1:32:31 四	1207060461	5860,166016	17.05498	22,91792	100.58291	19,50354	17.22026	15351.335	1,1003.20	1 05,70786	\$350.730	9/8228.50	3 63,1001	t 16.997.	8
ap 16, 200%	1,2727.00	120780477	sine.927910	17.3040	27.01006	2014 1 1 1 1 1	19.71303	17.28233	(M201, NA2	11, 12046	05,21126	01398.000	15225.54	0 63.252	4 16.39ET	
up 16, 3001	150017491	1207010577	0009.421075	17.32400	126,11267	70.51000	19,07005	17.2490	0385177	0025-96	198.042	2323 253	1111115.位	7 04 0109	110,091	
10 16, 200E	2093679	1360.02040	0404.906836	17,3002	38.00561	21.02710	19.83605	17.27982	5 341,238	16024,40	196,69900	18353-728	8 HE21E 26	1 64:2577	1116-098	
40 16, 2895	2.0101.011	1207071091	0482:766602	17.12908	38.076+1	21.02319	19.6671.1	17.27798	5345.230	1 6029 336	2 95 89715	5354.D42	2 5215.00	9 61.1600	1 IE.295	
																iii
()	-	·	-	-	-	-						-			1	Ē
Fest Formstatu 12:45:07 PM 2005/08/10	Rel Rel	ne Talestava otive Timo	CW D	ate in Ti	ne D	900					Lang Street Dines	the Thot I the tree th tang Coll, jative the	ne test sta select a o official dec	Canton to mid (see charryshid mas//for a	the latt, "Indition Distants act: 1000	

At this point, you need to tell the system what the timestamp for each row of data should be. Make sure that the First Timestamp, at the lower left-hand corner of the window, contains the time for the first row of data. If your spreadsheet was created by GasPerf, it will be correct already. If not, change it to the right value (you can click the little calendar icon beside the field if you want an easier way to enter the date).

You also need to identify a column which contains the relative timestamp for each row of data. Again, this will probably be set correctly if the spreadsheet was originally created by GasPerf. If not, select the column you want to use from the pop-up menu:

First Timestamp Relative Timestamp Col 12:43:07 PM 2005/08/16 Relative Time Time

When you click Next, the spreadsheet is converted to SI units of measure, and displayed:

Edit Operate Tools B	umae 用ingaw.	出中											
						_							17
npluit Sprowtheet				-		_					_		-
	DTe Mag C	D (Tr) Ideg C	D:Tail rieg C	De Taill rises C	D-D-F	D-Pe kPe	ErPd MPa	DFa Ma	to she i	D:FH kPa	Code and	Dogial Ma	0.57 Mile
00000018 - 12:43 07 000	17.10000	26.679410	12,71(02)	17,226882	17.3456	1 S191 (0)	10 IOI 11 74	5 45.6139	5399,50	5325.00	7 23 4113	0111.06527	5 124
095108116-12:4117.120	17.310425	26.076243	(7.78394b	17,285400	17 3431	1 5393.90	1 4915 74	THE BING	1000.00	\$295.04	6.53 3435	6 4 3 T STE	1 124
095108116 - 12:50:02.876	17-294434	CM- SEDTING	17 612906	17,401,854	17.3325	5394 00	016013.00	1 4E TOOG	4 5398 717	6299.71	2 53.5429	6114.0071	61424
00100116-13-29.10.699	17.300023	22, 1450532	18.100706	18,296177	17,3552	5301.21	N 0010.40	0 95 1007	9 5388.503	5279.00	4 (23 AUTO	1246.4110	1112
D00100116 - 12:22:04.754	17,319946	27.150/57	18.478333	18,189033	17.3420	530.00	10010.25	8.95.1705	5380.03	5279.00	7 725 (7 315)	14 4010	2 100
99503016 + 13 50 55 a 66	17.3960(3)	27.467896	19,209746	19,696899	17.3438	8 8369.63	6 600 2	6 95 7588	8377 43	5298.20	0 59.1679	8 15,4490	8:131
99503016+13/51/13/889-	17.339964	27.4635/9	19.047241	18,517200	17.3436	B369 6	\$ 6000 X	H 185, 7643	4 8377.003	5258.87	E.59.14EB	A 15 3981	3 131
0588886-14:15:08.007	17.343340	27.661133	18.879784	18,684007	17.3277	5561.07	91019.54	10 105 7569	5360.602	\$241.95	8 at 0952	2115,2906	2:194
D00000018 - 14:19:21.000	LT. 246193	27,8504218	18.001000	10.700(39	17.3857	15301.75	59 6010.24	5 51 1000	5364,900	16.0152(0.01)	4 00 9100	11.5317	0.124
105183116-14137127.166	17:354083	127.117728	20.383911	19,913540	17.2593	1,701 33	9 6423.20	0.95,7078	1.1.259.73	1 6275 09	3611003	115.307	0 230
395103/LE+14(37:53.982	17:354658	172 1/19067	10.4t#917	19.712036	12.2927	8351-91	216023.3	196.7118	5.5.6 77	8239.64	8 63 3625	14, 1603	6 13
005/08/16+14:56 in 423	17.374023	28.112671	20 518056	19.379652	17.2498	15945.tl	13 (40) 5 14	3 95 7043	1 5353 321	5211.02	7 144 8 169	5 16.6907	6 13
000100106-1000101-000	1.7 3602414	Cost in South	21.022100	19,020420	15.2726	1576.21	5 (024.40	195.6483	5153.722	5211.26	1-04-26577	0115.6000	1 111
101100116-12:04:29.206	17,370052	25.075410	11.073(95)	19,007114	17.7773	510.7	0.024.0	2 95,6001	5254.04	5210.00	9 214 46685	16,7950	6 336
							_			_			
	-					-	-	-	-		-		
	_					-			-	-	-		
						-							
						-			-	-			
	-	-	-			-			-	-	-		
	_	-		-		-	-		-	-	-	-	
	_		-			-	_		-	-	-		
		_				-	_		-	-	_		
	_	_				-	-	-	-			-	
	_	_				-	-	-	-		-	-	
	-		-	_	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	
	_	_	-		-	-	-	-				-	
		_			-	-		-				-	
4			-	-	-	-		-		-		_	ilite i
		1		-	_	_	-		The second second				-
		Chath	C. DOM:	DEIDA					station of	hit is correl d-units (#	Total and a	ed" to der	retter et
		10	100 22						TWOIL'NS	Case Visi	Tarina med	Contraction of	
		Address of the Party of the Par	other property of the second	100					De De	and the second	Convert	2,000	diam'r.

Click Next if you're happy with the conversion.

You now see a mini-menu, similar to the main menu screen:

Station Setup	F	John.stn	
Derived Pts.		Bragg.der	
Flow Devices			
Calculations		1	

You MUST define a station (you can also do this before entering this wizard). Everything else is optional (you may get some warning messages if you don't define everything, but you can ignore them).

Note that the tags for all calculated results must be unique – if you recalculate something that is already in the spreadsheet, you will get "duplicate tag" error messages.

Click "Next" when you've define the calculations you wish to perform.

The spreadsheet is calculated, and you can optionally save it.

The Snapshot Buffer is populated with the contents of the calculated spreadsheet, so you can use all of GasPerf's strip charts, operating graphs, etc. to view the results.
Recalculate Snapshot Buffer

The recalculation function provides a powerful way to correct measurement errors, change gas conditions, experiment with different base or ambient conditions, or export data to another system.

From the initial screen you can change the scaling of any signal acquired by the PXI chassis or manual input. You can also change the gas composition, or reconfigure the flow devices:

Gas Composition	
Flow Devices	

You can also specify new base conditions. This affects all of the flow calculations, the equations of state, and the ascv capacity determination:

New Base Co	nditions	
Pb (kPa)	Tb (C)	
101.325	15.00	

When you click "Recalc", you will be given an opportunity to change any of the manually input data points before the calculations are performed.

Recalculate Scaling

However, to correct any calibration errors, the system needs to know both the original scaling and what it should have been. The initial recalculation screen shows the original scaling for all PXI and manually entered signals, and proposes the same scaling in "Revised Scaling":



If you need to change the scaling for a signal, just modify the Revised Scaling here (don't change it in the PXI configuration screen)⁹.

⁹ This is important — if you change the scaling in the PXI configuration screen, the scaling will not be changed, because these values are only used when new measurements are acquired.

All of the data values acquired by the PXI chassis or by manual input can be modified:

Edit Manual Points

Edit Recalc Points

Data P	oints			Unit+Tag
0	0.00000	5.50000	10.00000	Relative Time
▼ 0	14000.00000	13995.00000	13998.00000	M9:N3
	95.60000	96.00000	96.50000	M9:TC-1
	14.56000	15.01000	14.75000	M9:RTD
	0.00000	0.00000	25.00000	M9:%ascv
	15.00000	15.00000	15.00000	M9:Ta
	95.00000	95.00000	95.00000	M9:Pa

You can scroll by row by changing the upper array index (you can also click the little up/down arrows). The lower array index scrolls the columns.

The list of tags at the right-hand side of the screen will scroll along with the rows.

Finally, the system recomputes all of the calculated values (flows, powers, etc.), and displays the results in a table:

Recale Duffer				
Date	(n/a)	Apr 22, 1997	Apr 22, 1997	+
Time	(n/a)	10:17 a.m.	10:17 a.m.	
Timestamp	Secs	147219856	147219861	
Relative Time	Secs	0	5.5	
M9:N3	RPM	14000	13995	
M9:TC-1	deg C	95.6	96	
M9:RTD	deg C	14.56	15.01	
M9:%ascv	kPa	0	0	
M9:Ta	kPa	15	15	
M9:Pa	kPa	95	95	÷
+			+	

Recalc Buffer

You can scroll in any direction by using the scroll bars (the display updates while you move the "thumb" of the scrollbar). The left-most column (tags) does not scroll (it acts like a frozen pane in a spreadsheet).

You can edit any cell in this table.

You can save this Recalc Buffer as a tab-delimited text file suitable for import into a spreadsheet or database.

If you want to re-import the recalc file back into GasPerf, we suggest that you avoid changing the units of measure.

Appendix 1 — Controls & Indicators

Each window in the Performance Testing software is sometimes referred to as a "virtual instrument" (VI), because it acts somewhat like a real instrument might act. You can use the mouse to push buttons and turn knobs, much as you might with a physical instrument. There are two main kinds of objects that can be on a screen: *controls*, and *indicators*. You can change a control; an indicator just displays information.

Here is how they work:

Digital Numeric

Min raw	Double-click the mouse within the numeric area to highlight a new value (if you pressed the Tab key to navigate to a nume number is already highlighted).
	Alternately, click and drag to select part of the number, and t

Alternately, click and drag to select part of the number, and t the portion of the number. You can also click the little arrow: the value.

You can also press the up and down keys on the keyboard to c To change the value more rapidly, press the shift key while yo

In some cases, there is a limit to the range of numbers you can attempt to exceed the allowable range, the display will reset it allowable number.

In the Performance Testing system, a control has a white bacl have a gray or coloured background.

Buttons

VXI Setup
Derived Points
Flow Devices
Calculations
Config Report

Buttons come singly, or in groups. Click to "depress" a buttor like the "Done" button which appears on every window, only until the program has noticed it.

Some button have keyboard shortcuts:

Help button F1 key

Done button Enter key (on Help screens only)

Checkbox Fast Scan Click inside a checkbox to turn it on or off. When an 'X' app' selected. Some checkboxes are just for your information. For example, a series of checkboxes to remind you of which configuration s already taken. Slide Switch Image: On off Either click the desired value, or click and drag the indicator t position. If the two positions aren't labeled, the top position i

Pop-up menus let you make a choice from a list of possibilitie within the text area, and hold the mouse button down.

A menu of all of the choices pops up — move the cursor to yc release the mouse button.

You can also click the little up/down arrows to change the sel

View

-

Frequency
√ Frequency
Thermocouples
RTDs
Analogs

Pop-up menus can also look like this.

√Hz Rev/sec RPM

Pop-up Menus Units

Ηz

Units

Secs

Clusters

Several items can be grouped together in a Cluster.

In the example below, we see a cluster which contains three th Name), and two numbers (Pb and Tb).

Plot Name	Pb (kPa)	Tb (C)
Plot One	95.000	12.00

You can move from field to field by pressing the Tab key.

You can copy the contents of an entire cluster to the system c them into a similar cluster. To do so, right-click on the border pop-up menu appears, from which you can select "Copy Data

To paste the values into a similar cluster (or another element click the border of the destination cluster, and select "Paste D up menu.

Arrays

Graphs

In many cases, configuration options are contained in arrays. contain zero or more items.

In the example below, each element of the array contains a clu have arrays of numbers, etc.).

There is currently one element in the array — the upper box. two more boxes which have been "grayed out". These are plac items. To create a new item, simply click inside one of the eleand enter something. The item will stop being grayed out, and becomes a new array element.



There may be more array elements than can fit on the screen. through the array elements by clicking on the big arrows in th corner of the array (the two arrows and the optional number index.

If you want, you can enter a number in the array index to mal immediately jump to that element. The first item in an array zero.

The strip charts, wheel maps, and X-Y graphs all offer you a great deal of control over their appearance.

For starters, you can change the range of the X or Y axis by selecting the first or last number in the graph scale, and changing it:



When you click elsewhere or press Enter, the scale is re-calculated with the new limits.

If you right-click on an axis scale display, you can even decide to place the markers at arbitrary positions:



Now, you can make the markers any value you want, or else drag them to the exact location you prefer.

There are some more options available if you right-click with the graph body:



If you want to copy the graph to another application, you can select "Copy Data"¹⁰

The Palette Display

Most graph have a "palette" associated with them:



The two slide switches at the left turn autoscaling on and off (on is to the right).

The next column contains two pop-up menus, one for the x-axis and one for the y-axis, which let you control the graph scales. Perhaps the most common operation is to set the digits of precision to display:



You can also make the scaling logarithmic, or display the scale in scientific notation.

¹⁰ On the Operating graphs, you should be aware that the wheel map and X-Y graphs are actually a "stacked" set of graphs, and that the top graph just contains the operating point history. This is the graph you'll get if you select "Copy Data". Also, most graphs display a graph legend and / or palette, which will also be copied unless you turn them off (use the "Show" slide-out menu).

Next to the right is the little magnifying lens . If you click this icon, the cursor turns into a descriptive icon, and the most recent zoom mode is selected. If you click and hold, a pop-up menu appears which lets you select a variety of zoom options:



The "grabbing hand" icon 🕬 lets you pan around the graph. You just "push" the graph to where you want it.

The crosshair icon is used to move cursors around on the graph.

The Cursor Display

Many of the graph also have a cursor display:

High Limit 0.96	5.74] 🗖 😽	6	
0.00	jø.oc	JC)	161	\checkmark

You can create a new cursor by clicking anywhere in the "greyed-out" area. To remove all cursors, right-click the border of the cursor display, and select "Empty Array" from the pop-up menu which appears.

You can name the cursor, and move it around by typing values into the X and Y axis displays. If you move the cursor by dragging it (remember that the crosshair must be selected in the palette), the X and Y axis displays show the current position of the cursor.

The next box 🔳 determines whether the cursor will be moved by the arrow cluster:



All of the selected cursors are moved together.

If you click and hold the mouse button on the next box over 🚧 a pop-up menu lets you change the appearance of the cursor:

Cursor Style Point Style	
Color 🕨 🕨	
Show Name Bring to Center Go to Cursor	
	Color:

The "Bring to Center" option is particularly handy if you can't see the cursor.

Finally the lock icon is a pop-up menu which lets you lock the cursor onto a plot, or onto the data points which make up the plot:

4-	Free
1	Snap to point
	Lock to plot
1	ACSU = 100.0 %
1	ACSU = 100.0 %